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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM") OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
aisclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and indivigually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Set out below is the corporate information of Royal Century
Resources Holdings Limited as at the date of this report (i.e. 26 June
2020):

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jun

Mr. Zhang Weijie

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit committee

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Nomination committee
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Remuneration committee
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Compliance committee

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va
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Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton

AUDITORS
Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

HEADQUARTER, REGISTERED OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
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China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
OCBC Wing Hang Bank

HSBC

DBS Bank
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Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square,

338 King's Road, North Point,
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The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

COMPANY'S WEBSITE
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
BNk &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the "Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

OVERVIEW

The Group's business experienced a difficult and uncertain operating
environment throughout the year due to the outbreak and ongoing
dissemination of social unrest and unstable activities in Hong Kong
since June 2019 and the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020.

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$42.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing approximately 52%
increment as compared with last corresponding year, and with a loss
of approximately HK$28.1 million.

The Group has strived to secure projects during the year, but the
aggregate turnover from the fitting out and engineering services
business and the design and procurement of furnishings and related
products services business was decreased to approximately HK$16.7
million due to delay and postponement of certain projects in progress
impacted by the social unrest and the outbreak of COVID-19.

During the year, the Group has commenced the operation of the
leasing of construction equipment business and achieved a turnover
of approximately HK$3.6 million. Since the leasing of construction
equipment business is in the developing stage, the Group expects
the income from the leasing of construction equipment will attribute
a sustainable income stream with steady growth to the Group in the
future.

The Group's sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
business recorded a turnover for the year of approximately HK$21.7
million after the re-structuring of the operation in last year. The Group
expects the sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines will
complement and further strengthen the Group’s development in the
years to come.
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Despite the unfavourable social and economic condition has not
been fully recovered from the outbreak of social unrest and unstable
activities in Hong Kong and the COVID-19, the Group has successfully
secured serveal projects with encouraging contract sums for the
fitting out and engineering services and the leasing of construction
equipment for the year ahead. The Group will continue its effort to
explore and secure contracts to expand the scale of the fitting out
and engineering services and the leasing of construction equipment
business.

Apart from the private sector projects, the Group is also in active
negotiation with various contractors engaging in the public housing
maintenance, improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works. The
Group expects such contract works would bring not only stable and
recurring income to the Group but would also pave the way for the
Group's further participation in the public sector works.

Following the commencement of various infrastructure construction
projects in Hong Kong, the Group's leasing of construction equipment
will be benefited from the increasing demand alongside such
projects. The Group expects more contracts/orders will be concluded
in the near future.

The Group will focus on the development its core business and
effectively utilise its available resources to further engage in its
current business sectors. Meanwhile, the Group will also explore
other investment opportunities so as to broaden its revenue base and
further consolidate the development of the Group into a successful
conglomerate.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude towards
the support and advice of our shareholders and business partners,
for their recognition of the Company's direction and strategies of
development, as well as the devotion and enthusiasm of our staff in
all scopes of tasks. They all helped us to drive the Company towards
perfection. We, the Board and all the Company's staff, will continue
to dedicate ourselves to refine our services to maximise the returns
from shareholders.

Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2020

Annual Report 2019/2020

RIRAT=
BEHENEERRAERNTERENLEHE
RABEEBARCOVID-19R TR RE - AKE
ERRFRINESREE R TRERBARRER
BHEAHENBESRSEC ABENER K
SERBESHIBERLZEEAR  MEREKER
TRERBALRERFEHERS -

BRIATIZIN AEETREEREAREERE

HEREBEEUPM T ENSAEEETERE
B ARERZUNBARITETEREAREES
KIBEREEEBA  EF/AEELE T 2R
DFEPPI TR SH T ERK -

MEESEEARRERRER RS AEE
WA EREREEEHALEERNERER-
AEBEHRAEETESAR, 8-

AEBERETERZOEBER LA BEHA
REEREERBERG - BRI AR E 3
BEMRER S UBAERAZRIE-TE
ABEREBZER UHAKNEERKFT Ao

Lk
AANERRESGHRARARR T REREME
MBRREEBBEHAREEZIFREZZARRK
MzBEITAEIESTHAZEMRBALRTRDL
Rt EfINER T AR BEEKATE ],
M -EFeRARA2BETHEE2 NER
BEIE BRRE KK AL R -



CEERERBR A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B BUL w wiw J2 oy B

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged
in (i) provision of fitting out and engineering services, (i) provision
of design and procurement of furnishings and related products
services, (iii) leasing of construction equipment, (iv) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines and (v) provision of financial
services business comprising securities advisory services, securities
dealing and brokerage services, asset management services and
money lending.

During the year, the money lending segment has been consolidated
into the financial services segment in order to concentrate the
resources of the similar financial services activities and reflect
a more appropriate co-related nature of the related financial
services. The management considered that the change in segment
disclosure better and clearly reflects our business development and
structure, and helps the shareholders or the potential investor better
understand the Group's revenue structure.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Breakdown of revenue by type of segment is as follows:
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For the year
ended 31 March
BE=A=+—-HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Fitting out and engineering services His R TERE 11,694 14,327
Design and procurement of furnishings and Rt R IREHKE KX
related product services HEERRS 4,964 4,689
Leasing of construction equipment TEEERE 3,606 =
Sourcing and merchandising of fine and R
rare wines 21,741 5,830
Interest income from money lending Re bl R A 2 EF S A
in financial services 750 3,304
42,755 28,150
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Breakdown of revenue by geographical locations is as follows:

W i & WA S R

For the year
ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=1+—HLEE

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBT FHT

Hong Kong BA 38,969 24,517
The PRC a3 3,500 1,008
Malaysia BREE 286 2,625
42,755 28,150
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The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020 of the Group
was approximately HK$42.8 million (2019: HK$28.2 million) which
represents approximately HK$14.6 million or 51.8% increase as
compared with last corresponding year.

The significant increase of the Group’s total revenue was mainly
attributed by the leasing of construction equipment business and
the re-activation of the sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines business.

An aggregate revenue of approximately HK$16.7 million for the
year ended 31 March 2020 was recorded from the provision of
fitting out and engineering services and provision of design and
procurement of furnishings and related products services business,
which was decreased by approximately 12.1% as compared to that
of approximately HK$19.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The Group has made effort to tender as to maintain the scale of
operations of the provision of fitting out and engineering services
business and provision of design and procurement of furnishings and
related products services business.

The leasing of construction equipment business segment has
commenced its operation after the establishment and development
since last year and recorded rental and installation services income of
approximately HK$3.6 million during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The unanticipated and deteriorating economic impact from the
outbreak of social unrest and the ongoing series of unstable activities
in Hong Kong since June 2019 adversely affected the Group's fitting
out and engineering services business as well as the leasing of
construction equipment business. Certain contracts and demand
schedules of the projects engaged have been delayed or postponed
which affected the revenue generated therefrom for the year ended
31 March 2020.

Through successful re-structuring of the operation and reactivation
of the sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines business in
last quarter of last year, the Group has developed and maintained a
stable and sustainable relationship with its customers and suppliers.
The segment recorded a revenue of approximately HK$21.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020, with an increase of approximately
HK$15.9 million as compared with last year of approximately HK$5.8
million.

The revenue from money lending amounted to approximately
HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2020, with a decrease
of approximately HK$2.5 million from last year of approximately of
HK$3.3 million due to reduction in loan portfolio since the fourth
quarter of last year

Gross profit for the year

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a gross profit
of approximately HK$5.5 million (2019: approximately HK$7.6 million).
Gross profit by types of segments is as follows:
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R RF-A=tHLEFEZHE-

KBREFENFERNEEEE  UHBAHPE
WRBEY  ARECHRF RN BRI
RERAFHENHER Bt BE_T-_TF=H
=t+—RIFE &0 RbF R E 4 421,700,000
P TT - B A 5 %95,800,0007 T - 3 HN%Y15,900,000
FBITe

HREEFENERREREGRLD REZ
KeERBE_TE_ZEF=A=T—HBLFEHD
800,000/ 7T + 8 & F 493,300,000/ 7T + 5 4 49
2,500,0007% T ©

KEEZEF
BE-_Z-_ZE=-A=+—BILtEE Xx&H
$% 18 E F #9 A5,500,0008 T (T — NF: 4
7,600,000% 7T ) « EFIE D HEIH AT -

Gross profit for
the year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLFEEF

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Fitting out and engineering services His R TERE 2,422 2,259
Design and procurement of furnishings R RERBEEREEE QRS

and related products services 1,388 1,833

Leasing of construction equipment TEEERE 343 N/A

Sourcing and merchandising of 31 & 8

fine and rare wines 567 251

Financial services ® Bt AR 7% 750 3,304

5,470 7,647
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The gross profit from fitting out and engineering services and design
and procurement of furnishings and related products services
decreased slightly by approximately HK$0.3 million in aggregate
whilst the gross profit margin increased to 22.9% during the year.

A gross profit of approximately HK$0.3 million was recorded from
leasing of construction equipment for the year ended 31 March
2020. The Group has strategically offered attractive pricing to new
customers in the initial stage of business development in order to
establish the customer base and relationship with the customers.
With the gradual resumption of some of the existing projects which
were suspended or postponed due to the outbreak of the social
unrest and the COVID-19, the construction equipment were steadily
delivered with related rental income generated. The income from
installation of the construction equipment also compensated the
depreciation of the construction equipment and attributed to the
gross profit recorded for this segment.

The gross profit from sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines was increased by approximately HK$0.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 due to the increase in sales as compared with
the last year.

The gross profit from money lending was decreased by approximately
HK$2.5 million from approximately HK$3.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended
31 March 2020 due to reduction in the loan portfolio since the fourth
quarter of last year.

Loss for the year

Whilst there was a drop in the gross profit of approximately
HK$2.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 as mentioned
above, the Group's overall administrative expenses decreased by
approximately HK$7.1 million or approximately 22.1% from last year
of approximately HK$32.1 million to approximately HK$25.0 million
for the year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the Group's
implementation of stringent control and streamline of the operations
which resulted in decrease of staff costs of approximately HK$5.6
million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group's loss for the year increased by approximately HK$8.0
million to approximately HK$28.1 million (2019: approximately
HK$20.1 million) mainly attributable to the loss on changes in fair
value of investment property of approximately HK$2.6 million, and
impairment of intangible assets and goodwill of approximately HK$6.3
million.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Provision of fitting out and engineering services

The Group mainly provided fitting out and other engineering services
to commercial institutions and residence end users as well as
public sectors. The Group has made effort to submit tenders and to
enlarge the scale of operations of fitting out and engineering services
business during the year. The Group has constantly been invited by
the existing and potential customers to submit the tenders regarding
to the provision of fitting out and engineering services.

Despite the unfavourable social and economic condition due to the
outbreak and ongoing dissemination of social unrest and unstable
activities in Hong Kong and COVID-19, causing numerous construction
projects including infrastructure construction projects and building
repair and maintenance projects being suspended or postponed, the
Group has managed to secure contracts with sums of approximately
HK$18.4 million, of which approximately HK$7.4 million has been
recognised during the second half of the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Group expects the social unrest and the COVID-19 outbreak
are short term incidents and believes that the situation will improve
when the COVID-19 outbreak is under control and the performance
of the fitting out and engineering services business will be improved
gradually. During the last two months, the Group has further secured
projects with contract sum significantly higher than the aggregate
amount of all contracts awarded during the year ended 31 March
2020. With this encouraging results, the Group is energetically in
negotiation with a number of other potential clients for the provision
of fitting out services.

Apart from the private sector projects, the Group is also in active
negotiation with various contractors engaging in the public housing
maintenance, improvement and vacant flat refurbishment works. The
Group expects such contract works would bring not only stable and
recurring income to the Group but would also pave the way for the
Group's further participation in the public sector works.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group is vigorous in developing and consolidating business
relationship with project contractors of different segments to widen
its market spectrum. The Group expects such strategy will further
broaden and strengthen the income stream and the sustainability
development of the Group.

Looking forward, the Group is optimistic in achieving an exponential
business growth in provision of fitting out and engineering services
for maximization of the return to the shareholders and the value of
the Group.

Provision of desigh and procurement of furnishings
and related products services

During the year, the Group has received and completed orders in
relation to the furnishings and related products.

The Group will further integrate its expertise and look for business
opportunities together with the fitting out projects to strategically
utilise the Group's resources in synergy.

Leasing of construction equipment

The leasing of construction equipment business segment was
developed as a natural expansion of and ancillary to the existing
principal business of the Group in last year. The business segment
successfully and gradually commenced its operation and recorded
rental and installation services income of approximately HK$3.6
million during the year.

Despite the unfavourable social and economic condition due to the
outbreak and ongoing dissemination of social unrest and unstable
activities in Hong Kong and the COVID-19, the Group has successfully
secured orders from various contractors/customers in relation to the
leasing of construction equipment during the year ended 31 March
2020.

As the leasing of construction equipment business is in the
development and growth phase, the number of leasing orders would
be expected to increase continuously. The continuous increase in
number of leasing orders would result in increase in the revenue
generating therefrom which, in turn, leads to expansion in the scale
of operation. Although such growth rate may not be drastic in a short
period of time, the relative stable and low-risk nature of this business
could offer a solid and stable income stream to the Group and
development of the business scale of the Group.
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The Group expects the recovery and positive growth of the
construction industry after the settle down of the social unrest
and COVID-19 will further favour the development of the leasing
of construction equipment business in long run. With the branding
recognition of the Group's leasing business and the enhancement
of its operation scale, the rental income derived from the leasing of
construction equipment would have significant growth with enlarged
size of operations in the years to come.

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
During the year, the Group has developed and maintained a stable
and sustainable relationship with its customers and suppliers and
securing recurring orders therefrom. The Group has been actively in
identification of suppliers and more potential customers to sustain
the development of this business. Accordingly, the Group has
satisfactorily increased its revenue during the year. The Group expects
the wine merchandising business will continue to attribute a stable
and solid income stream to the Group.

Financial services

The Group's money lending business maintained a loan portfolio with
principal amount of approximately HK$6.3 million as at 31 March 2020
which was at the same level of approximately HK$6.0 million as at 31
March 2019. The Group only recognised an aggregate interest income
of approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: HK$3.3 million). The interest income was narrowing in line with
the reduction in loan portfolio since the fourth quarter of last year.

The Group continues to adopt a prudent management approach
to carry out the financial services business in order to minimize its
credit risk exposure and ensure a healthy development in its money
lending, securities advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and assets management services business while proactively
exploring and seeking for high creditworthiness customers to have
steady revenue base.
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Other business development

Besides the above business development, the Group is proactively
seeking for business opportunities and exploring new investment
opportunities in order to further diversify the principal activities of
the Group to strengthen and broaden its revenue base. The Board
believes the expansion of business segments will bring the Group to
a new chapter which will further foster the development of the Group
into a successful conglomerate.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year, the Group financed its operations through fund
raising exercise and by its internal resources.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$17.8 million (2019: HK$50.6 million), including cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$10.7 million (2019: HK$27.0
million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current liabilities,
was approximately 2.2 times as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 7.5 times).
The decrease in the current ratio during the year ended 31 March
2020 was mainly attributable to the settlement for acquisition of
scaffolding equipment and the recognition of lease liabilities arising
from the initial application of HKFRS 16 during the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING

The capital structure of the Company comprised ordinary shares only.
On 29 November 2019, the Company issued 87,000,000 new shares
through the placing of new shares (the 2019 Placing”) with proceeds
amounting to approximately HK$6.5 million, net of share issuing
costs. As at 31 March 2020, the Company has 522,600,000 ordinary
shares in issue. Total equity attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$83.0 million as at 31 March 2020
(2019: HK$104.4 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s only borrowings comprised of lease
liabilities of approximately HK$20.4 million (2019: Nil). The Group's
gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity,
was approximately 24.6% (2019: Nil). The increase in the gearing ratio
during the year ended 31 March 2020 was mainly attributable to the
recognition of the lease liabilities arising from the initial application of
HKFRS 16 during the year.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING OF NEW

15— BB R 3R FT 8 A

SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE =
(i) Placing completed on 26 November 2018 (i) R=F2—NEFE+—A=-+RHAHEKRZ
[iHR=3
Reference is made to the announcements issued by the FRAARFAR=ZZE-—NF+—HA—ABRK
Company on 1 November 2018 and 26 November 2018 in —E-N\F+—A=Zt+RAFEZAE K
relation to the placing of new shares under general mandate. REARERE —REERBEIRG
On 1 November 2018, the Group and a placing agent entered R=ZZF—NF+—A—B AEEHEEER
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Group Bl VEEwHE Bl AREZEEER
appointed the placing agent to procure altogether not less than BREAENPDRANBBIL AR ARETR
six independent placees for placing (the “2018 Placing”) up to Bt & 1% 190.207%8 Jo Bl B & 5 %£72,600,000
an aggregate of 72,600,000 placing shares at a placing price of AL SR ([2018FEFIB ) - &R
HK$0.20 per placing share. The closing price per share on that BAER021E T
date was HK$0.21.
The 2018 Placing was completed on 26 November 2018 with 018EEFBER=_E—NF+—A=Z+RX
gross and net proceeds of approximately HK$14.5 million A - BEBESE TS RIBEEBRME
(equivalent to HK$0.20 per placing share) and HK$13.8 million FIEFHEEAARBPE T —N\F+—
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.19 per placing share) as A=+ 22%5 54 A14,500,0007%%
per the Company’s announcement dated 26 November 2018, 7T (HEERETRESRMDK0.20%8 T) &
respectively. The Company intended to use all the net proceeds 13,800,000 7T (HHE R BREEKRH D
for the purchase of construction equipment for leasing 0.19870) - AR R GFIBRIBFEAR
purpose. BERERBEREEZR -
Planned use
of proceeds
as described
in the Actual
announcement use of Actual use Actual use
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(ii)

Placing completed on 29 November 2019

Reference is made to the announcements issued by the
Company on 12 November 2019 and 29 November 2019 in
relation to the placing of new shares under general mandate.

On 12 November 2019, the Group and a placing agent entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Group has
appointed the placing agent to procure altogether not less than
six independent placees for placing (the “2019 Placing”) up to
an aggregate of 87,000,000 placing shares at a placing price of
HK$0.08 per placing share. The closing price per share on that
date was HK$0.083.

The 2019 Placing was completed on 29 November 2019 with
gross and net proceeds of approximately HK$7.0 million
(equivalent to HK$0.08 per placing share) and HK$6.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.075 per placing share) as
per the Company’s announcement dated 29 November 2019,
respectively. The Company intended to use all the net proceeds
for the purchase of construction equipment for leasing
purpose.

(i)

R-ZB-HAE+-AZt+tABERZ
BE
FRAARFR-_ZE-IF+—HA+=H
RZZE-NF+—AZThBRZZAE
NBEBEERE —RIERBHB A -
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ERERBRES KT IR ANEBEILE
AESRESKRMH0.08BTREEA X
% %87,000,0008% fid & B% 15 ([201982 & =
1B ) - & RXKRTE A SK0.083%E T -
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BN R & I 15 490.087%8 7T ) £.6,500,000
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in the
announcement Actual use Actual use
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2019 2020 this report
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Net proceeds from the 2019 Placing NV9RESHEABFAETE

— Purchase of construction equipment -BERERE 6,500 4,500 6,500
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), Singapore dollar (“SGD"), Renminbi (“RMB") and United
States dollar (“US$") and its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and
borrowings are principally denominated in HK$, SGD, RMB and USS$.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate
movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange
risk.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group spent approximately
HK$16.0 million on additions to scaffolding equipment. Details of
the additions were set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

On 30 August 2019, the Group entered into a disposal agreement with
an independent third party, pursuant to which, the Group disposed of
its 100% equity interest in Wonder Express Development Limited and
its subsidiaries, indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
Details of the disposal were set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no significant acquisition
and disposal of assets or subsidiaries of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 9 December 2015, a supplier filed a statement of claim for cost
dispute of approximately HK$1,000,000 against a subsidiary of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the claim was settled
with costs recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 0ss.

Save as above, the Group did not have other significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2020.
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COMMITMENTS
Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed 27 (2019: 30) employees.
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its Directors and employees mainly based
on industry practices and individual's performance and experience.
On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual's performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2020 (including
emoluments and salaries to staff and Directors and MPF
contributions) was approximately HK$11.5 million (2019: HK$17.1
million). The decrease in the remuneration was mainly due to
stringent control in staff remuneration.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial management
risks.

The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group are
summarized as follows:

(i) social unrest and unstable development; and
(ii) COVID-19.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are
shown in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those

mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental conservation.
Various practices have been implemented to encourage compliance
with environmental legislation and promote awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees. Further discussion
of environmental policy and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 40 to
62 of this annual report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in
the operation of the Group's businesses.
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The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 26
June 2020, being the date of this annual report, are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 53, is an executive Director
and the chairman of the Company. He joined the Group since October
2015. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree with honours in Business
Administration and a master of science degree with distinction in
Corporate Governance and Directorship. He is a fellow of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practising certified public
accountant and has extensive experience in financial management,
corporate development, corporate finance and corporate governance.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (formerly known as
Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 2322). He is
also an independent non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics
Group Limited (Stock code: 351) and Leyou Technologies Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 1089). He was an independent non-executive
director of U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited (now known as
Fullsun International Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock code: 627)
from November 2010 to December 2017, Jun Yang Financial Holding
Limited (now known as Power Financial Group Limited) (Stock code:
397) from January 2005 to October 2017, Affluent Partners Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 1466) from December 2016 to September 2018,
China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock code: 164) from
April 2006 to September 2019, Media Asia Group Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 8075) from September 2009 to March 2020 and New
Times Energy Corporation Limited (Stock code: 166) from May 2012
to March 2020, and an executive director of Great Wall Belt & Road
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 524) from June 2015 to October 2019.
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Mr. Wang Jun (“Mr. Wang"), aged 50, is an executive Director.
He joined the Group since February 2017. Mr. Wang completed a
certificate programme in General Education from &R & & XA
#ER (literally, Guangdong Suixi Education College), the PRC in
1988. Mr. Wang completed a professional programme in Business
Administration from _E & Bl BR A& 3 1T #E {£ 2 B3 (Shanghai Institute
of International Economic and Technical Education) in the PRC
and was awarded a bachelor degree in management in 2010. He
also holds a qualification as qualified funds practitioner from the
Asset Management Association of China. Mr. Wang has extensive
experience in real estate, corporate strategic management, project
management, investment business, and funds management.

Mr. ZHANG Weijie (“Mr. Zhang"), aged 34, is an executive
Director. He joined the Group since May 2018. Mr. Zhang completed
a course in Tsinghua Business Administration and Innovation
Executive Leadership programme from The Research Institute of
Tsinghua University in Shenzhen, the PRC in 2013. He has extensive
management experience in financial leasing and investment business
and in securities investment in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (“Mr. Tsang"), aged 42, was appointed as a
Director on 20 January 2014 and became an executive Director on 30
June 2014. Mr. Tsang was re-designated as a non-executive Director
on 22 December 2016. Mr. Tsang joined our Group in 2004 and has
extensive experience in the interior design and consultancy industry.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tsang worked at SW. Law & Associates
Architects & Development Consultants Ltd, an architectural company
from July 1998 to July 2004 as project coordinator responsible for
assisting project architects to deal with clients, contractors and
consultants. Mr. Tsang was awarded a Diploma in Electronics and
Communications Engineering by Kwun Tong Technical Institute in July
1997. Mr. Tsang graduated from a Master of Engineering Management
course offered by the University of Technology, Sydney in conjunction
with the Hong Kong Management Association in 2014.
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Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. A Chan"), aged 54, is an
independent non-executive Director since September 2015. Mr.
A Chan is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).
Mr. A Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
(major in Finance) from Hong Kong Baptist University and professional
diplomas in Hong Kong tax and China tax from the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has served in senior
financial and company secretarial positions in a number of public
companies listed in Hong Kong and Singapore for years.

Mr. A Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of KK
Culture Holdings Limited (Stock code: 550). He was an independent
non-executive director of Feishang Non-metal Materials Technology
Limited (now known as HangKan Group Limited) (Stock code: 8331)
from December 2015 to December 2017 and e-Kong Group Limited
(now known as Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code:
524) from February 2015 to May 2017.

Mr. Wu zhao (“Mr. Wu"), aged 42, is an independent non-executive
Director since November 2015. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor degree in
Engineering (Chemical) from the University of Queensland, Australia.
He also obtained a master of commerce in applied finance and a
master of information technology from the University of Queensland,
Australia. He has extensive experience in finance, information
technology, investment and funds management. Mr. Wu ceased to
act as a director and the licensed representative of Type 1 (Dealings
in Securities) and Type 4 (Advising on Securities) license of a fund
management company from July 2018.

Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-executive director of Silk
Road Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock code: 988).
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Mr. Lam Cheok Va (“Mr. Lam”), aged 62, is an independent non-
executive Director since April 2016. Mr. Lam is a member of the
Standing Committee of Yunnan Province Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also the President
of Macau Yunnan Chamber of Commerce, the Director General of
Macau Small and Medium Enterprises Chamber of Commerce, a
director of China Federation of Overseas Entrepreneurs, a director
of Macau Chamber of Commerce, an executive director of Macau
Region China Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National
Reunification, and a member of Advisory Board of School of Language
and Translation of Macau Polytechnic Institute. Mr. Lam has extensive
experience in business including entertainment, food and beverage,
retail, tourism and consulting.

Mr. Lam is currently a director of Macau Resources Group Limited, of
which its securities are traded on the Over-The-Counter Market, the
United States (OTCBB: MRGLF).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton (“Mr. Pang”), aged 51, is the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company. He currently
holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Pang has
extensive experience in the field of accounting, auditing, business
advisory services and financial management. He has been engaged
in the senior financial and company secretarial position in listed
companies in Hong Kong since 2014. Mr. Pang holds a Master of
Professional Accounting degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Li Sze Yan (“Mr. Li"), aged 40, is the project controller of a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Li join the Group in December 2017 and
has extensive experience in fitting out and engineering industries.

Mr. Chiu Kam Sang (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 55, is the director of a
subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Chiu joined the Group in 2018 and has
extensive experience in waterproofing works and maintenance
industries.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this corporate
governance report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal
control procedures of the Group could balance the interests of
the shareholders, customers and employees of the Company. The
Board has adopted the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
15 of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and decision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
In accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee, a nomination committee and a compliance committee
with specific written terms of reference. During the year ended 31
March 2020, the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has put in place internal policies to ensure the
compliance and has adopted and complied with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code during the year except for the following
deviation from the Code provisions:

. Code provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year, Mr. Liu
Rongsheng acted as the chief executive of the Company from
1 April 2019 until his resignation on 21 February 2020. Upon
the resignation of Mr. Liu Rongsheng, no replacement has
been made to fill the casual vacancy and the post of chief
executive of the Company has remained vacant as at the
date of this report. The duties of chief executive have been
performed by other executive Directors. As there is a clear
division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the
post of chief executive did not have any material impact on the
operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review
the current structure from time to time and if a candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience is identified, the Board
will make an appointment to fill the post of chief executive as
appropriate.
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DIRECTORS’' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with such code of conduct throughout the
year ended 31 March 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Directors in office during the year and up to the date of this annual
report are set out in the “Report of the Directors” in this annual report
on pages 63 to 74.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor the
implementation of these policies and strategies and the management
of the Company. The Group has a professional management team,
which is led by a team of senior management with substantial
experience and expertise in the Group’s business and the Board
delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing the
Group's policies and strategies. During the year, the management
provided all members of the Board with updates in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company's
articles of association. All minutes of the Board meetings were
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the decisions reached.
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During the year, the Board held 13 Board meetings and 1 general
meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

RAFR EFSCDBTIBREFEERARIRK
RAE -BEEBEENHFEHBOT:

Attendance/
Number of Attendance/
General Number of
Meeting  Board Meeting
entitled to entitled to
attend attend
HERE B HERE B
HENRRE HENESSE
RERITRE BBEETRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) PREESLE (EE) 11 13/13
Mr. Liu Rongsheng Bl ER A (TTBAEE)
(Chief Executive Officer) (RZZ=EF
(resigned on 21 February 2020) ZAZ+t—B&E) 0/1 9/9
Mr. Wang Jun FEEAE 0/1 13/13
Mr. Zhang Weijie RERLEE 0/1 13/13
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BALERE 171 13/13
Independent non-executive Directors BYkBTES
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BR £1) 3 55 A& 11 13/13
Mr. Wu Zhao R E 11 13/13
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va7t &£ 1/1 13/13
Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal BEENEEX EBRER

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of the executive
Directors, the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two or three years and such
term shall be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either party
giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the articles of association of
the Company, the Board may appoint any person as an additional
Director or to fill a casual vacancy, provided that any person so
appointed shall hold office only until the conclusion of the next
following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then
be eligible for re-election.
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In addition, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 141
of the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election.
Where the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number which is
nearest to but not less than one-third of the total number of Directors.
If there are less than three Directors, they shall all retire. The Directors
to retire by rotation will be those Directors who have been Directors
longest in office since they were last elected, or appointed by the
Members (as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore, among
the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company, based on such confirmation, considers Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex, Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va to be independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the year, the
role of the Chairman was performed by Mr. Chan Chi Yuen while Mr.
Liu Rongsheng acted as the chief executive officer of the Company
from 1 April 2019 until his resignation on 21 February 2020. Upon
the resignation of Mr. Liu Rongsheng, no replacement has been
made to fill the casual vacancy and the post of chief executive of
the Company has remained vacant as at the date of this report. The
duties of chief executive have been performed by other executive
Directors. As there is a clear division of responsibilities of each
Director, the vacancy of the post of chief executive did not have any
material impact on the operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Board will review the current structure from time to time and if a
candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience is identified,
the Board will make an appointment to fill the post of chief executive
as appropriate.
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Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and management of the Company with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business/functions, while
reserving certain key matters in making strategic decision for its
approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it gives clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company would
arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training courses for the
Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of his
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

All Directors during the reporting period have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills through suitable trainings. The participation
in such trainings is to ensure that their contributions to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors that may arise
out in the corporate activities which has been complied with the CG
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written terms of
reference which were further revised on 10 November 2014, 14
December 2015 and 17 December 2018 in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu
Hung Alex. The other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok
Va. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the review
of the Group’s financial reporting process and the internal control
systems as well as risk management of the Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed financial matters, including a review of the audited
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

6 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year. Details of
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the attendance of members of the Audit Committee meeting are as  KEREFEEZEZFIBOT -
follows:

Attendance
Members RE HEIRE
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairmarn) BREE A (/) 6/6
Mr. Wu Zhao R E 6/6
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t & 6/6

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year:

—
QO

) reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019,

(b)  reviewed the unaudited financial statements for three months
ended 30 June 2019, six months ended 30 September 2019 and
nine months ended 31 December 2019;

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems;

(d)  reviewed the Group's accounting principles and practices, and
financial reporting matters;
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(e) approved the remuneration and the appointment and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

(f) reviewed the external auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of audit process in accordance with
applicable standards.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee of June 2020, the Audit
committee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the financial statements and other reports
for the year ended 31 March 2020 and discuss any significant
audit matters with the Company’s external auditor and the
senior management before recommending them to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Audit Committee recommended the
Board in relation to the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as the
Company's external auditor for the financial year ending 31 March
2021 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference which were further revised on 17
December 2018 in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr.
Lam Cheok Va. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex
and Mr. Wu Zhao. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
are to review and recommend the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and the
senior management personnel of the Group, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment.

2 Remuneration Committee meetings were held during the year to
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review the remuneration packages of all Directors. Details of the BEEZZHFMSE-FMEZEEeXEHFESHE 2
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee meeting 1540 T :
are as follows:

Attendance
Members K& IR B
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman) Lam Cheok Vast 4 (/) 2/2
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex FeR 1)t 5t A 2/2
Mr. Wu Zhao Sk aE 2/2
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group's remuneration policies are formulated based
on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed
regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also
provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration
policy with regard to the remuneration package of the executive
Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as
measured against corporate objectives achieved. The executive
Directors are entitled to the remuneration packages including basic
salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way of written
resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
(i) employees of the Group (whether full-time or part-time); (ii)
directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors (where applicable)) of the
Group; (iii) substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and
(iv) associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the Group
of which includes any of the abovementioned persons (together, the
“Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with an opportunity to obtain
an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the
interests of the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive
to work better for the interests of the Group.

The Company believes that by offering the Participants a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the Participants and the
Company become aligning and thereby the Participants have
additional incentives to improve the Company’s performance.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

ESRSREEBNITMBR

FEMEENNE BREF S KRR - ANEBAF MK
RIREREENEARRMER - WE iR -8
FAEEM RN EE N AEE IR A] SRR 8 BN
BBIEAL - (F R EH A EEMIFERREER) - B
BRTESFTMEE2HFHBRNIEAN 2
ZRER B R RE UL 1R OB S BRAR IR B i A RO b 3
BREENRAMNA NRBMABATES-
ERTEFERUBNFMFTERRBEELSHE R
BYISTEAL

RIZE—MOFRA=TH BE—BERUEmMRER
TR R Z BRER 8 ([FBRERTE)) -
BRI S 3] 2 IR & GEM T AR BB 23T v 4R
E-BREFENENERMIAEERE (28
KA (AREES (BREATES JFHIT
EERBEFRITES (WER) )« (AKEE
KREARZEBER RIVAEEEFHEEMR
ROBEAL (BREMLAAL) (5HE 28
EFRHEEDARRBRAERZEE BREZ
) 2 B N S T ) i e R R R - o T BB 1R 5 BB 4F
RAREEMNSEH R -

ARBIRGE BBRASEERHKADRRE 7]
7 18 5 M) 25 B R R 2 K — 4R - 03 T BUED
DEE QRN EFEUELE -

BREEXERTZTFAERXEBSK SRE
BABZBE_Z-_ZTF=-A=+—HILFEZM
THEFBOT:

Numbers of
Individuals
ABHE

Nil to HK$1,000,000

0 - 1,000,000/ 7T 4

SEFNF S CFCEFERE
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Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company'’s articles of association
to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy on
or, as an additional member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be
proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are
mainly based on the assessment of their professional qualifications
and experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for
directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of
skills and experience appropriate to the Group’s business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference which were further revised on 17
December 2018 in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Wu
Zhao. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Lam
Cheok Va. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates for
directorship, either to fill vacancies on or appoint additional Directors,
and succession planning for Directors, in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

1 Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year to review
the appointment of all Directors. Details of the attendance of the
members of the Nomination Committee meeting are as follows:

REZEES

EEgrREARRABERAAMETENZ
EEMATHEEFE/MBRRZR KIMAE
EZERTKE - AERREABERZEZENU
HEE MEFSIZRBREAZERERR
RBRERMELN EFELERKEANEAAR
SEEBORERERRE BHERABRRER
HlEES-

ARBR_E—NFNA=ZTHKIIRELZEE
(MRBRZE &)  XIBRBGEM_E TR BIF 81587
B EBE AT RMEE ARSI CEBES
(RZZE—N\E+-A+tB&EL) REE
ESRBH-EBUIERTESMAEN  ARKE
EVEEEFE - Herpk B ARSI A K Lam Cheok
Vartk - REZBEMTIEMEAMREBESA
BUEMTRAZ T EEURERET (L
HREARRERELEBTRAB)AESSRH
==

RAFEAN REREERITINERNERNZRE
FZRE-RAZRBEEREBHFEERZIFBOT

Attendance
Members K& IR &
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman) RIKGE () 11
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR SIS A 1/1
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast &= 11
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board had adopted and established a set of board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board with the aims of enhancing Board effectiveness
and corporate governance as well as achieving the Group'’s business
objectives and sustainable development. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement
of the measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board
Diversity Policy.

EEEgMEZ TR

REAFR EZGERARGE-—EEFEKE
ZEBR ([EFEXEZTIEBER]) - #IE
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B REZESMEERZESH  BRETRRY
MR Fi - UERBEBSS Bk FELER-
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(37 N
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Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with
written terms of reference which were further revised on 17
December 2018. The Compliance Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr.
Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr.
Lam Cheok Va.

The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to review
matters relating to the historical conduct of the operations of the
Group with a view to (i) understand the relevant legal compliance
obligations; (ii) recommend procedures and protocols for
implementation and/or inclusion into the policies of the Group for
regulation of our recent or future operations to ensure compliance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review such
policies from time to time to consider whether any amendments
or updates are necessary and to make recommendations to
the Board for amendment and adoption as appropriate, and (iii)
review the effectiveness of and compliance by the Group with the
policies implemented by the Group and to recommend remedial
actions to be taken (if any) in the event any non-compliance is
discovered. Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly basis
or as and when necessary to perform the functions set out above.
For effective monitoring, external independent professionals will
be engaged to conduct reviews of our internal control system and
its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis, and if
considered necessary by compliance committee, at frequency as it
considered appropriate.

1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year. Details
of the attendance of the members of the Compliance Committee
meeting are as follows:

EHRZEEY
RRABR_ZE—NENA=ZTHEHKIAREE
2([AREES]) ViITTERRSEE (RNZZ
—N\F+ZA+tAKER) - AHEECHERH
Z—RBMIEHITE R AR R EETE
& B#RAK B AR IR A Klam Cheok Vast & »

EREZEGZIEREARNERAREBER
BIIRZER N THREBMZEZRAREL: (2
BRFEARAHETR LMAREBEE -
RERERMISII AR EE - URERET—L)E
FEZ  RAIRIER - B PR R A R F B - A
BREFZFEHEAEFTXEN YREFSR
HEE BT RM & iV AKERE
R ZMB A EBETZERR2BER AL
EERETANARITAFEZREERDN AT
(E) A TARERBRAEREZEGER-
EEBET AR AT ERET  LEIT EXHH
B RERER ARZEEREFRER
RREFBEZBATRERREEZATE &
BEONERIE S, H A & - ARt B P 2 M BD B il
AR EBIT R

REAFRN AREZBEHTIRGZ AREZES
KEBHFEZZFBWT:

Attendance
Members K& IR &
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) PREVA S & (£5) 171
Mr. Wu Zhao Sk aE 1/1
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t 4 1/1
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Corporate Governance Functions

According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in
the corporate governance report of the Company.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial period to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report. The
Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
auditors, Mazars CPA Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services was as follows:

B E
HEAFE REZRIIEEZREE A LB AR
REZEEFERR (B8 StMEBMEARA
AlMEenT:

HK$'000
Members j24=] FET
Audit service BEZRE 500
Non-audit services IEEZREE 5
Total @t 500

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and for
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implement an effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group's internal
control framework, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions of different systems. Review has been carried out in a
systematic approach based on the risk assessments of the operations
and controls. The Board considers that the key areas of the Group's
internal control systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed professional
firm to perform internal audit function, on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
financial, operational and risk management aspects. The systems
were considered effective and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk management
in a functional bottom up manner, including risk identification,
assessment, evaluation and treatment. The functional areas across
the Group provide input of risks with treatments, which are appraised
and maintained. The risk management system, as well as the internal
control system, are continuous, proactive and systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems is reviewed by
conducting internal audit assignments. Recommendations for major
observations of control weaknesses from the audits will be provided,
S0 as to resolve material internal control defects.
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Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted and established a set of dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”). The Company currently does not have a pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. Any declaration, payment and
amount of dividend in the future are subject to the Board's discretion
having regard to the Group's future financial performance and
earnings, capital requirement and surplus, general financial conditions
and other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
The Company values communication with the shareholders and
investors. The Company uses two-way communication channels to
account to shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. Enquiries and suggestions from shareholders or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from shareholders may be put to the
Board through the following channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at Suite
2201, 22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@royalcentury.hk.

The Company uses a number of formal communications channel
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance of
the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports; (i) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders to raise
comments and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’'s website offering
communication channel between the Company and its shareholders
and investors; and (v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong
serving the shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a
regular basis information of the Group to shareholders through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or dispatching
circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at
least 20 clear business days’ notice shall be given. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Compliance Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are
available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group's
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of the
CG Code, the management will ensure the external auditor to attend
the annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
The directors are required to call a general meeting if the company
has received requests to do so from members of the company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the members
having a right to vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting;
and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director or
recommended by the board of directors for election as a director by
validly lodging the following documents within the period hereinafter
mentioned at the registered office of the Company at Suite 2201,
22/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the appointment
or reappointment of such person to the office of director, which
must state the full name of such person, include the person’s
biographical details as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules and be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. anotice in writing signed by such person of his willingness to

be appointed or re-appointed as a director together with his
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data.
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Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of the
Company within the period of seven (7) days after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt of such documents,
the Company shall verify the documents and, if the proposal is found
to be in order, publish an announcement or issue a supplementary
circular in respect of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.46B of
the GEM Listing Rules.

In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10) clear
business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules) or fourteen (14)
days' (whichever is the longer) notice in writing, such documents
lodged within the aforesaid period may be received less than ten
(10) business days prior to the general meeting, in which case the
Company will consider the adjournment of the general meeting
in order to give shareholders at least ten (10) business days to
consider the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (http://www.royalcentury.hk) which includes the
latest information relating to the Group and its businesses.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton is the company secretary of the Company.
During the year, Mr. Pang has duly complied with relevant professional
training requirements in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
articles of association.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting Standard and Scope

We are pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") report (“Report”) for Royal Century Resources
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”). This Report discloses the Group’s policies, guidelines,
actions and performance over the past year on different sustainable
development issues in a transparent manner. The Group recognises
the environmental, social and governance values and it is our
commitments to create sustainable values and environmental
protection through caring of our stakeholders.

This ESG Report covers the reporting period from 1 April 2019 to 31
March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”) and it has been prepared in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "HKEX"). The Guide encourages a listing company to identify
and disclose ESG information that is material and relevant to both its
business and its stakeholders.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of fitting-out and
engineering services; (i) provision of design and procurement of
furnishings and related products services; (iii) leasing of construction
equipment; (iv) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
("Wine Merchandising”) and (v) provision of financial services
comprising of securities advisory services, securities dealing and
brokerage services, asset management services and money lending.
Unless otherwise stated, this Report covers our operations mainly in
Hong Kong that has contributed the majority of our Group’s turnover
in the Reporting Period.

Annual Report 2019/2020

BARAHE

BEREREER
BPMARCRERERBERAB ([AAF] -
BRIEMBARGE [ AEEH]RE2RE HE
K &ya ([ESG ) W& (TESGHE]) - AESGH &
NEBRENTABRETAREBE —FHETR
AREEREE T EMBOR $E3 BHEIKR -
AEERFARR & MERZEE BBRAL
BEA BRABNEETHEBENRRERE -

AESGREREE —_T—NFNA—RHE=E_ZT—
TFE=R=+—HALRRER ([FHEH]) - Wi
BEBSBRAXZMARAR ([BRAT]) GEM:F
F EmAR ([GEMEMRA]) 820 IRIE « 4t
eRERMEES ([163]])RE - ESGHR L 53]
HEETARSA R EEEEER R ESA
R EBESGEF}

ARENEZXBROREEKE R TRRRS - ()i
HRFT REBERERBBERRY (IHER2E
i (WERBRBEREH (RBEH) ARWEH]
SRBRGEEGERABAEHREERY  EFX
HRBRRY EEEERERME-FRIFRTT
FAEIN  RESGHREREANEERHEH AR E
B2 EERENTBER-



CEERERBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BREE - & SRR

Governance Structure and Approach to ESG Reporting
The board of directors of the Company oversees the ESG
development of the Group and sets out ESG objectives and direction.
It has delegated the day-to-day execution of all ESG related
responsibilities to the ESG working group, through the responsible
financial controller.

This Report is prepared by our ESG working group, which consists of
the external ESG advisor and managers from major departments, and
is led by the financial controller. The ESG working group is responsible
for formulating ESG policies and initiatives, embedding the ESG
principles in each department of the Group, coordinating with other
staff for delivery of the ESG objectives, and compilation of the ESG
Report.

We shall reinforce the reporting principles as proposed in the Guide
for materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, in order to
incorporate more relevant contents in the report and to present
information in a way that can meet better the expectation of our
stakeholders.

Identifying Priorities and Balances in Our Value
Creation Process

We hope to enhance communication with stakeholders through
this report. To start with the value creation process on sustainable
development, the stakeholders' participation is critical to assess the
priorities. Through a variety of communication channels, we get in
touch with important stakeholders for better understanding their
expectations. As a result, we cannot only identify opportunities and
challenges, and develop our business strategies, but can also improve
our corporate social responsibilities that are considered as the
continuing commitment of the Company to behave ethically and to
contribute to the sustainable development, and at the same time to
improve the quality of life of our employees and their families as well
as the local community and the society at large.
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The chart below highlighted our key stakeholders and the various M TEXRERNBEHAMBEMANEIERZIALS

communication channels for the Reporting Period. EBMEE-
KEY STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION CHANNELS
FTEREZA BBRE
e Shareholders and investors meetings
o REANREESH
Shareholders & Investors e Annual reports and ESG reports
EWEEE-E FEHE RESCHRE
e Company website and email
NElAEuh BT B
e Departmental meetings
Hre®
O 0 0 e Staff appraisal meetings
IHIA! Employees BT HEER
EE e Seminars, workshops and trainings

et e - TIES RFF
e Intranet, email and internal memo
NEEAS - BF B R A BT EE

e Customer Meetings
EFg®
M Customers e Sales representatives
LS HERK
e Customer hotline

B PR

e Physical and phone meetings

0] ERELEESE
e On-site briefing and training
Business Partners & Suppliers I35 15 R IE |
EE RS EREH RHERS e Collaboration between project managers
BB K122 ErE1E
e Co-ordination with purchase manager
HIBEE 2 Ba i
e Physical and phone meetings
Financial Institutions ERLREESS
DRI e Co-ordination with Financial Controller
HE B 75 48 B 10 8
E e Participation in community activities
Government & Regulatory Authorities S R
[| [| [| BRIF BB s e Community news
fEERE
e Participation in community activities
Community & NGO ekl )
fE & K FETRAT B8 e Community news
Fa i
¢ Media meetings after shareholders’ meetings
REASENEESE
D Media e Company website
-0 H NGIF b
e email and enquiry hotline
BT RERELER
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One of the key outcomes we expect from the stakeholder
engagement process is materiality assessment where the views
of what are important to business and what are important to
stakeholders are identified through plotting a matrix of relevance
and importance. We prioritise the material issues and focus these
in the medium and long-term planning. Adequate manpower and
financial resources are ensured to meet the strategic plans. Policies
are enhanced and improved where they are inadequate to meet the
ESG objectives. The ESG working Group formulates ESG initiatives and
arranges activities for achieving the ESG objectives, and ensure the
initiatives and practices are properly executed.

Stakeholder
Engagement

Materiality
Assessment

EHEASH EMHET

» Through completion »

Strategic
Planning

REEMHEETE

Medium and long
term strategic

WEAASEBPEPESHNIERRZ —REE
HEFHE MERRRUEREREZEEREED
FEREE AMEHBENEBLEARE LEENE
BRESARREENER RABEERER
FE UHEBHBN T RANKERE P R
BRANANK B ERAFT A BBEETE - 2T+
RBGET B ABIRESGE MRS  ESGT {EME X
1 E ESGHE 1Y 2 BF B IRESG R RHE &) - WHE(R
RERRITIHEEME L -

Policies and
Practices

BER R EH

Policy enhancement
BURtRE

Identify, engage of a matrix for planning A
an_d communicate AR A FREA R REARBE M 5T 2 Enforcgrlgéttliact;\ées and
Wi srakenoigers importance 21 R BT
igéigg EB TR Resources allocation
- ! RERAEREME R EEM ERD 6

Our businesses have impacts on our key stakeholders, and on
the other hand our stakeholders also have different expectations
over the Group. Going forward, we shall continuously strengthen
communication with our stakeholders, and collect their opinions and
expectations extensively by various means.

Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental,
social and governance approach and performance. Please share your
views with us via email at info@royalcentury.hk.

ESG reporting
ESGH#R 5

BHPNEBERMANEIEERAELRE TH
—E HPINESATHASERE TRNH
2o REARR  HAAIE U 058 A A REE -
SHEREBERRHE-

R ARE

REEBEARZARBMANRR ek
BAERKREAREBRB-FEBETEH M4
(info@royalcenturyhk)E2E M3 = B T H9ERZE -
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CARING FOR OUR TALENT

Staff and Public Health and Safety

We care about the well-being of our talents and recognise it as our
prime responsibility to assure the health, safety and welfare of our
talents, as well as other persons who are likely to be affected by
our operations, including the subcontractors and the public where
appropriate. We are committed to provide safe working environments
to our talents in our offices and in our worksites.

The worldwide outbreak of the deadly Coronavirus (COVID-19)
was started in early 2020. As a responsible corporate citizen, we
understand our Company and our staff have to play a role to take
actions for containing the spread of this disease. We have been doing
upon our reach to ensure the safety of our talents and the public
from the virus. We have taken the following precautionary measures
to minimise the risk of contracting and spreading of the COVID-19 in
our offices and in the community.

All staff and visitors are required to check their body
temperature before entering the office.

o Provide 70-75% alcohol-based sanitising hand rub at the
reception counter for hand hygiene.

. Face masks are provided for all staff and they are required to
wear in the office and worksites.

o Promote regular and thorough hand washing for our staff.
o Social distancing is encouraged.

. Avoid face to face meetings and use web-based or phone
conference meeting instead.

. Avoid unnecessary travel to affected regions. Upon returning
from the affected regions, staff are required to self-isolate for
14 days.

Apart from above measures, we also ensure our workplaces are
clean and hygienic by scheduling regular and frequent cleaning
and sanitisation in our offices. Surfaces and objects such as desks,
tables, telephones, handles, etc. need to be wiped with disinfectants
regularly. We have also posted up notices in the office to let our staff
understand the measures and the importance of hygiene.

We also pay great attention on the hygiene of our worksites. We
require our staff and subcontractors to strictly follow the instructions
of main contractors and customers to maintain good environment
hygiene of the worksites. Smoking is also prohibited in our
workplaces.
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To protect our staff from injury, we implemented safe work
policies and procedures at our workplaces. In our worksites, we
have implemented safety management system to manage the
safety issues. Safety policies, working procedures, plans and
measures are set out in the safety manual, which is provided to
all management and supervisory staff including the person-in-
charge of the subcontractors. The project controller is responsible
for monitoring the progress and the safety of the project, such as
the maintenance of the tools and equipment, qualified workers are
engaged to complete the work properly and safely. Independent site
safety inspector will be engaged for large projects to carry out site
inspection and issue safety inspection reports regularly.

We have established a site safety committee, which is responsible
for strict implementation of our safety management system, and for
identifying and monitoring safety issues in our construction sites.
The site safety committee is also responsible for promoting safety
and health awareness to workers and helping workers to understand
and observe the rules and regulations relating to the safety of
construction works in Hong Kong. Our subcontractors are required to
abide all safety laws, rules, regulations, measures and procedures as
well as all current enactments relating to their works.

The Group strictly complies with the following laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") to provide
a safe, healthy and quality workplace and to protect our staff and
casual workers in our offices and construction sites:

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in HK
o Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance in HK
. Labour Law of the PRC

Recruiting and Retaining Talents

We value our talents and recognise that the core of our Company’s
long-term development and sustainability relies on our ability to
inspire our talents to deliver excellence. We strive to create a positive
environment in which our talents’ contribution to the Group’s success
is encouraged, recognised and rewarded. We are committed to
being an employer of equal opportunity and our recruitment does
not discriminate people on the basis of race, nationality, ethnic
origin, religion, sex, or marital status. Staff with the appropriate skills,
qualifications, experiences and competencies required for a particular
position will have equal opportunities to be considered for the
position.
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To maintain our competitiveness in attracting and retaining talents,
we continuously monitor market practice and staff feedback on
compensation. We offer competitive salary package with benefits
and welfare based on their qualifications, working experience and
performance. We conduct annual staff appraisal to ensure that
our talents are given the opportunity to assess and advance in
their individual careers. The staff appraisal result forms the basis
for determining the annual salary review, discretionary bonus and
promotion of our talents.

We strive to ensure that our talents work hard and at the same time
can enjoy happy and fulfilled lives. The key is work-life balance. We
believe when our talents can spend quality time with their family
and friends, they will be more motivated to perform at work. During
the Reporting Period, we organised a Christmas party with buffet
lunch and lucky draw, and also birthday and festive lunches to
celebrate with our talents. In the Mid-autumn Festival, we celebrate
with our staff by giving every talent a box of mooncake. We invited
all our talents and business partners to the Group annual dinners
in Hong Kong and in the PRC to show our gratitude to them in a
casual and relax atmosphere. On big festive days, such as the Mid-
Autumn Festival, Christmas Eve, Winter Solstice, New Year Eve and
the Chinese New Year Eve, our talents are granted early leave in the
afternoon in order for them to have more time to celebrate with their
friends and family.

As at the end of financial year, the Group had 22 (2019: 26) staff in
Hong Kong and 5 (2019: 4) in Mainland China. Our employment of
staff is governed by the following laws and regulations in relation to
employment in Hong Kong and in the PRC:

o Employment Ordinance in HK

o Employees’ Compensation Ordinance in HK

. Minimum Wage Ordinance in HK

o Sex Discrimination Ordinance in HK

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance in HK

. Family Status Discrimination Ordinance in HK

o Race Discrimination Ordinance in HK

. Labour Law of the PRC

. Labour Contract Law of the PRC

Annual Report 2019/2020

RTRERMERSIMBEAATEOHREN
BPEHEEEmSENIME THHFMe R E-
BARBEMOMNERE TIEEBRERRIRHASR
BRERONFMI RBEFEREN - RIAETF
BB TFHE  UREREMOAT BEHSFHNE
BHEBEABELE BT HAERBRTEES
HES NERSMAT EFARERE-

BB HEEREMANATBLITE REEZ 0
RAFTEEE)E - BIE T TIEE )5 2 REE T
oo ARG - RERFIGOAT AT AR R A M A
REERFEX MR EEEaHNTIE- REH
WeHMERTERE TR MEEmE
ARAERMERFE BRMOAT B - EHK
B RMEET —RER MEBUASEEX—2
Adt- BPIBBRAE AT MEBAERHEZ IR
SEEFANTENFEEBRE  AEREMER
B 550 AP 1) At AP 2R R KA o AR R AKER - EEREER AT
& &% TS MEBEHFA S SEREHA
BPAT AT AETFRE T UEMMEE
SRR EPR R A —RER

RMBRFEER  AEEEFEEE2E (ZF—A
F:26%) BIRRHPBEAERE (ZE—NF:
AF) BT -HZMWERABEIZATETEMP
BRARMERIEROR:

o EENIEREEA

o FHBEN[EEMERD

o FHBNIREIEKD

o EHBH [MERIEAR 5G]

o FHIBH [EKREAR RG]

o BB [HKEERAIEAR RG]

o EHBH [REIREAR 5G]

o HEM[HEE]

o  HEMNTPEARANMBELESRZE]



CEERERBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BREE - & SRR

During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly complied with
the above laws and regulations. There was no non-compliance
incident in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hour, rest period, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfares of any employment
that have a significant impact on the Group.

Staff Training and Self-development

We believe that continuous acquisition and upgrading of skills and
proficiencies is essential for our talents to the next step in their career
path. Our goal is to empower our talents to build on their strengths,
realise their dreams and enrich their lives. Relevant vocational and
job-related trainings can help our talents to equip themselves with
the necessary knowledge and skills for performing their works, and
it can also foster their loyalty with our Group. To encourage ongoing
learning and development of our talents, we sponsor our talents to
take professional courses, seminars, workshops and conferences
recommended or approved by the Group.

During the Reporting Period, our staff had attended various training
courses to enhance their technical knowledge and professional skills.
These training courses had covered the following areas:

. Electrical engineering

. Plumbing installation

o Construction industry safety training

. Accounting standards updates

o Professional education in accounting

. Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing

. Regulatory and compliance requirements, and market updates
of financial services business

Apart from the above external training courses, our senior
management also provided internal trainings to general staff based
on specific job requirements.
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Observing Labour Standards

We recognise that child labour and forced labour violate fundamental
human rights and the protocol of international labour conventions,
and we concur they pose a threat to sustainable social and economic
development. To uphold these labour standards, we strictly abide
the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law in PRC on this issue.

The Group prohibits employment of child labour and will carry out
examination of the applicant’s age during the recruitment stage.
We would strictly follow the employment contracts and would not
prejudice the employment relationship in any way between the
employees and the Group, such as detaining a deposit, forcing to
work against their will under any kind of threat. Our Staff has the right
to terminate the employment contract as long as it is in compliance
with the relevant laws and the Group policies.

During the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-compliance
with the laws and regulations relating to child and forced labour that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT
Environmental Protection

Our Group is well aware that environmental protection is crucial for
the sustainable development of the environment and our business.
We endeavour to minimise the impact on the environment in doing
our business, while at the same time to maintain quality service
to our customers. We have formulated policies and procedures to
enhance efficient use of resources, proper handling of emissions and
proper use of natural resources.

Emissions and Resources Management

We believe cultivating the habit of energy saving for our staff in our
workplaces can help to reduce carbon footprint. We require our staff
to take up the responsibility of reducing energy consumption by
switching off all computers, lighting, air conditioners and equipment
after office hour. During office hour, we encourage our staff to switch
off lighting and electronic equipment when not in use. To increase our
staff's awareness on environmental protection and to enable our staff
to optimise the use of resources, we have put forward policies on
energy saving in the staff handbook.
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We are committed to complying with all relevant laws and regulations
on environmental protection in Hong Kong, as fundamental to our
continual improvement of environmental performance. We require
our staff and subcontractors to comply with the following laws and
regulations for our worksites in Hong Kong:

o Air Pollution Control Ordinance

o Air Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation
o Noise Control Ordinance

o Water Pollution control Ordinance

. Waste Disposal Ordinance

. Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance

We require our staff and subcontractors to adopt air pollution
abatement measures to reduce air nuisance to the atmosphere. Dust
and volatile organic compound (“VOC") are the major air pollutants
produced during the construction and demolition processes that
affect our environment. As such, we use low-dust techniques and
equipment to contain construction dust. VOC-containing materials
must be kept in air-tight containers to prevent air pollution. In respect
of noise control in our worksites, construction works are undertaken
in accordance with the permitted work hours as specified by Noise
Control Ordinance. All equipment used must comply with the
permitted noise level. Wastes are segregated into general waste and
construction waste before transporting to rubbish collection points or
designated waste disposal facilities.
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In order to meet our goal on reducing emissions from our business
operations, we set out policies to improve the efficiency on the use of
energy and to reduce energy consumption. In respect of our vehicles,
we ensure there is proper maintenance and service for improving the
combustion efficiency of fuel in order to avoid excess air emissions.
We constantly monitor the fuel consumption and the mileage usage
of the vehicles to reduce the impact to the environment. Our staff are
also encouraged to take public transportations to the worksites and
for visiting suppliers in Mainland China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had re-structured the
operations of the fitting out and engineering services business
and as the result, the total number of vehicles of the Group was
reduced notwithstanding that some vehicles were added to other
business segment. As the result of the above changes in the business
operations, the total fuel consumption of the Group was greatly
decreased by 24% for this year and the fuel consumption per staff
was reduced by more than 9%.

The re-structuring of the operations of the fitting out and engineering
services business had also reduced the Group's total electricity
consumption by 32% and the electricity consumption per staff was
reduced by 19%.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - ENERGY CONSUMPTION 2020 2019

FERREGE-RRER —EEF —ET-hEF

Direct energy consumption

HERRERE

— fuel consumption (litres) 12,950 17,080
FURERER (FH)

— fuel consumption/average no. of staff (litres/staff) 454 502
UREREE/ETFAASK(A/ETL)

Indirect energy consumption

& e BE R OH 3%

— electricity consumption (kwh) 43,620 63,980
B 71 E R (Kwh)

— electricity consumption/average no. of staff (kwh/staff) 1,530 1,882

B EFE/E TEH AE (kwh/ET)
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Because of the change in the size of our fitting out and engineering
services business, the fuel consumption had been lowered and as
the result the direct greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions from fuel
consumption was reduced by 24%. The purchased electricity level
was also lowered and as the result the indirect GHG emissions from
purchased electricity was reduced by about 26%. The paper usage
was reduced significantly partly due to the re-structuring of the
operations of the fitting out and engineering business, and partly due
to the pay-off for the Less Paper Policy. In this connection, the indirect
GHG emissions from paper wastage was significantly reduced by
69%. In aggregate, the total GHG emissions of the Group was lowered
by 28% and the GHG intensity per staff by 14%.

On air emissions, as the result of reduction in the number of motor
vehicles, the total mileage travelled by the Group's vehicles had been
decreased and as such the emissions of sulphur oxide (SOx) had been
reduced by 48%. However, the emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx) and
particulate matter (PM) surged by 70%, and 111% respectively despite
the decrease in travel mileage. This is due to the need to replace a
light goods vehicle for the construction equipment leasing business,
and light goods vehicle by nature generated much more NOx and PM.

HREFNEER TEREEBREN R [
ETHREOERE Bt MEEREENERRE
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RERTREER HBOoRAZHNBDERBER
WROKR - EEHE BRELNRBEAER
BHFRE RN T69% - BM = AEER
ERBAFHNERIET28% BLETHRER
BHER R ERRK T 14%
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P (NO)H REHL ) B (PM)EY BE L 53 13 0 T 70% 70
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - AIR EMISSIONS AND GHG EMISSIONS 2020 2019

FERBEEZE-BERBIHK —E-EF —E-NEF

AIR EMISSIONS kg kg

R AR i

- Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") 20.25 11.91
REY

— Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") 0.13 0.25
wmalty

- Particulate Matter ("PM") 1.85 0.88

GHG EMISSIONS

GHG #hh &

Scope 1: direct emissions from vehicle fuel consumption
HEN - TEREDERERN EZEHER

Scope 2: indirect emissions from purchased electricity
#HE2 :FAEESE HHREEEENR

Scope 3: other indirect emissions from paper waste
F0E3 - 4 OREE D R TR P 755 22 B A L R 2 Bk

Total GHG Emissions
GHGRHEM =

GHG Intensity — total GHG emissions/average no. of staff (tonnes COz-/staff)

GHGE - GHGEHI M E BT FHAB (M- & LinE 8T)

tonnes COze

tonnes COze

WM_R{mE WE_Rm(HRE
34.8 46.3

28.3 38.6

1.4 4.5

64.5 89.4

2.26 2.63

ZENFE A CFFERRE
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Waste Management

Our fitting out and engineering services produce construction
waste during the construction process. Construction waste in other
worksites are collected by our subcontractors and disposed to the
designated places as required by the main contractors.

We strictly comply with the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong
Kong for disposal of waste. During the Reporting Period, about 168
tonnes of construction waste were transported to the government
waste disposal facilities for disposal after sorting. The amount of
construction waste had been reduced significantly by 61% due to
less construction projects requiring to dispose construction waste
through the government waste disposal facilities for the Reporting
Period. To reduce the impact of construction waste created by us
on the environment, we have adopted measures and procedures
to monitor and control the generation and disposal of construction
waste derived from the construction process.

During the Reporting Period, the total amount of non-hazardous
waste produced by our offices was greatly reduced by 47% as
compared with last year due to the re-structuring of the operations
of the fitting out and engineering services business to reduce
duplicating consumption of materials and hence, reduce the
amount of non-hazardous waste. We continue to implement various
waste reduction measures to reduce waste generated in our
workplaces. The non-hazardous waste generated from our offices
are mainly paper waste and office supplies. Less paper consumption
policy is imposed and we encourage our staff to use electronic
communications and filing to replace paper. Double sided printing is
encouraged and used paper is collected for printing draft documents
to reduce paper usage and paper waste. Furthermore, used printer
toner cartridges are collected by the printing supplier for recycling in
order to reduce waste.

The Group's fitting out and engineering works do not produce
significant amount of hazardous waste. Our staff and subcontractors
are required to comply with the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
Regulation for handling any hazardous waste produced during the
operational processes. For other business segments of the Group, we
do not generate hazardous waste as well.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - NON-HAZAROUS WASTE 2020 2019
FTERREFE-FTREY —EBEF —E-NF
GENERAL WASTE Tonnes Tonnes
—REEY g g
Total non-hazardous waste produced 2.33 4.42
EENEEREDES

Non-hazardous waste intensity (in terms of average no. of staff, tonnes/staff) 0.08 0.13
FERENEE RIEABTAE BMASTE)

CONSTRUCTION WASTE Tonnes Tonnes
BENR T 72
Total construction waste disposed to government waste disposal facilities 168 436
MBTEYEERERENEEREYEE

Non-hazardous waste intensity (tonnes/no. of projects) 168 218

FeREYEE (M, HEE)

Water Conservation

In our offices, we have not consumed significant amount of water.
Water is supplied to our offices through the respective property
management company where our offices locate, as such it is not
feasible to measure our water consumption. Even so, we still pay
attention to water conservation. Notices are posted at the prominent
places to remind our staff to save water and reduce unnecessary
wastage of water. In our construction sites, water is supplied by
the main contractors or our customers. Our subcontractors are
responsible for the water usage and we do not have control over
the consumption. We have not encountered any issue on sourcing
appropriate amount and type of water for business purpose.

During the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-compliance
of laws and regulations in Hong Kong relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a significant
impact on the Group.

Conservation of Other Natural Resources

Our Wine Merchandising business does not consume much packing
materials as we generally use the same packaging of the wineries
for delivery. Our wines are delivered directly from our wine storage
warehouse to our customers. As such we can minimise the impact to
the environment from the use of paper or wood materials.
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The Group is committed to minimising the impact of our business
activities on the environment and natural resources. We pay close
attention to our subcontractors and suppliers to ensure that they
strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to
the environmental protection and do not cause significant damage to
the environment. The Group's operations do not cause any direct and
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.

COMMITMENT TO OUR CUSTOMERS

Supply Chain Management

Our fitting out and engineering services, design and procurement of
furnishings and leasing of construction equipment businesses require
a lot of subcontracting services and purchases. In the procurement
process, we stress on fairness that all potential suppliers and
subcontractors can share the same level playing field, and we apply a
high level of objectivity and impartiality in supplier and subcontractor
selection process. The selection criteria for our subcontractors are
based on, among others, their quality of work, technology knowhow,
safety performance, business integrity, ability to comply with the
relevant laws and regulations, sustainability and cost effectiveness.
For suppliers of goods and materials, we stress on quality, reliability
and safety of the products that they can provide, and priority will
be given to those socially responsible suppliers if there is not much
difference in cost.

Moreover, we have high expectations on our subcontractors and
suppliers in areas and issues such as child labour, force labour,
human rights, environment, health and safety, as well as bribery
and corruption. In addition, the products and services delivered by
our subcontractors are subject to applicable industrial laws and
environmental laws in Hong Kong. Our subcontractors are responsible
for their employees’ insurance and safety and have to ensure their
tools and machinery used to carry out the work are in compliance
with all applicable laws including those in relation to industrial
safety. Penalties will be imposed on any violations occurred. We also
required our major suppliers to provide written confirmation that they
abide all applicable laws.

For our Wine Merchandising business, as we have to be responsible
to our customers, we only select wine merchants with good
reputation and high star rating to ensure reliability of the wine quality.
It is also important that those wine merchants are reliable in supply
and have a good trading history with the Group.
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Product Responsibility

Customer satisfaction is the key to the success of the Group. Quality
control is one of the key differentiators between the Group and our
competitors in our fitting out and engineering services business.
Our quality management system is well established to assure the
quality of our projects. Project controller is assigned to each project
to oversee the progress of project and to assure the quality of the
project. We also monitor the production progress of furnishings and
materials for our projects and carry out inspections to ensure the
production is in line with the safety and design specifications.

During the execution of the project works, our designs are constantly
checked against the constraints to ensure the feasibility of the works.
The progress is monitored continuously to meet the customers’
requirements and expectations. In the completion stage of the
project, a final site check is carried out with customers to certify all
works are completed in accordance with the design specifications
and customers’ requirements. We offer warranty period from one
month to one year to our customers. Our new business segment,
leasing of construction equipment, has commenced its operations
in the Reporting Period. We provide product quality and safety
assurance to our customers by engaging qualified test centres
to perform tests on the construction equipment. Test reports are
provided to our customers to make them rest assured. We also
provide guidance on using the equipment properly and safely when
our customers request.

During the Reporting Period, we have not experienced any material
claim by our customers in respect of the projects completed or
equipment leased by us.

Condition of wines is also crucial to the sustainable development of
our wine merchandising business. To preserve quality and value of
our wine stocks, we select professional wine storage providers to
provide ideal environment for storage of our wine products. We only
select wine merchants with good reputation and rating to ensure
quality and authenticity of the wines. In the Reporting Period, we have
not received any complaint against the condition of our wines from
our customers.
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As a licensed money lender operating under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (“MLO"), we also provide loans to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. We rest assure our customers that the
Group has followed all forms, procedures and requirements as
prescribed under the provisions of the MLO for making the loans
available to them. Owing to the nature of our money lending
business, we need to frequently and regularly collect, retain, and
utilize personal data from our existing and potential customers. In
this connection, the Group needs to and has complied with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and other applicable laws. We have
policies to manage our customers’ personal data. Appropriate levels
of security were implemented to safeguard and secure their data.
Measures are in place to ensure the customers’ relevant data are
protected against unauthorised or accidental access, processing or
erasure. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance of laws and regulations that has a significant
impact on the Group relating to privacy matters.

CONTRIBUTION TO OUR SOCIETY
Anti-corruption

We uphold the highest ethical and governance standards on
preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. All
directors and staff in Hong Kong are regulated by the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Hong Kong) (the “POB Ordinance”). Staff working
in Mainland China must also comply with the local legislation to
prevent bribery. The Group prohibits all directors or staff to obtain
any benefit from clients, suppliers or any person who has business
dealings with the Group. The Group has formulated policies and
procedures to ensure every staff does not provide, undertake or
receive any improper and illegal benefits. The Code of Conduct on
our staff manual clearly states that no staff shall accept advantages
and gifts from our business partners. Our Group has established
whistle-blowing channels to encourage both our staff and external
stakeholders to raise concerns about misconducts that have
contravened the POB Ordinance or other relevant legislations on this
aspect to the top management of the Group.
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In our money lending business, the Group is well aware of the
importance of prevention of money laundering. We strictly comply
with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations in
Hong Kong including:

. Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance;

o Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money
Lenders.

The Group has adopted policies and procedures in relation to
performing customer due diligence works, identifying suspicious
money laundering behaviours and reporting of suspicions
transactions.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case in relation to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering within the Group.

community Investment

As a member of our community, we strive to support the community
by way of social participation and contribution. We encourage our
staff to enrol in charity and social activities to benefit the community.
During the Reporting Period, our staff participated in a community
service event organised by Scout Association of Hong Kong and
sponsored by Lions Club of the New Territories Hong Kong to
distribute free face masks to elderly over 60 years old.

We hope to create positive impact on our society through
collaboration and volunteerism and to increase our staff's concern
on the social and environmental issues of our community. We will
continue to contribute our time and resources to the community.
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
f& & o 2%R

A. Environmental
A . RiE

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1:HEBRY
General Information on: 48-52
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
—M#HE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
BRI LBREREHN MR LHMEES EEREZEEEYNE
EEH:
(@ H%: &
() BTFHBEITAEEAZEZNEEERRROINER -
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 51
PR e S AR BE R -
KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 51
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
AERBEYNE (UNEFE) R (ER)ZE (MNSES8M  §18
BHEETE) o
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Not applicable for
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). disclosure
FEAEZEEDRE (U)K (ER)BE (MASESEAL - THEBEE
SRR H) -
KPIA1.4 Total hon-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 53
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEEEZSEEYEE (U8R (ER)BE (NAEESEA -
BIEFRMEETE) ©
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 48-51
U R BEE MR R FAERR -
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 52-53
reduction initiatives and results achieved.
HEEBERBEETEEYN ST L RIEELSNRERTEKR-
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ASPECTS
[Em

A. Environmental
A RE

EBHEA2 - ERFEH

DESCRIPTION
R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

PAGE REF
8ZR

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
L EEEBHHRIBELRAERNEARZERD RN EREHTENTT
o

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 43-53
Disclosure other raw materials.
—RHE BRERER (BEER K REMRME) BB
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or 50
oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
RERESNEER SKHEEER(WNE - f3vl) @Fs (UWTETE
Bt ) REME (WA SEB B - SERMHE) -
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Not applicable for
volume, per facility). disclosure
BEKEREE (NAEBESBN  FHEBHEAE) o TEARE
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 48-51
it g R AR a T 8 R TSR ©
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 53
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
FIUSKEUE F/KR AT A EAIRERE - bARIBHA Ak e st 8 RAT1S R ©
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if | Not applicable for
applicable, with reference to per unit produced. disclosure
SR MATABEMENEE (UEFE) R (WER)BEEBEMEE- N3 R B BR
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EBHEA3  BERAAER
General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment 53-54
Disclosure and natural resources.
— R WEEITAEBRRERARERENERTZENBR -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 53-54
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
B it 2ZH

B. Social
B. #&

Employment and Labour Practices
EBEREIER

Aspect B1: Employment

BEB1 : EE

General Information on: 45-47
Disclosure (@) the policies; and

—RRIE R (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

AT RRE BERES TERR BRE TEHe Zat RE

LA e B 5 38 S AR A HY

(@) E%x: &

() BFEHEITABEAZENREERRAEOIHEHR -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2 :R#EHEZE

General Information on: 44-45
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
—RRIE R (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
FRRHZE2TERERRBEEBEBELSEN:

(@ B K&
(b) BFHBEITABEAZENBEEERADHEHR -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : & & R iE 3
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 47
Disclosure duties at work. Description of training activities.
—MRIXER BERRAEERITIIERENMHE KRB - il EIES
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ASPECTS
[Em

B. Social
B. #&

DESCRIPTION
R

Employment and Labour Practices
EBEREIER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

PAGE REF
8ZR

[BEB4 : & T %8|

General Information on: 48
Disclosure (@) the policies; and

—BEE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
ERAIEET R4 TH:
a) Bk &k
b) BFHETABERTZENHEBAERLROINEF -

—_ —

Operating Practices
EEER

[EEBS : ftIEEEE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 54
Disclosure BRMHEENRIE R g R BBUE -

—RHE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BEB6 EMEE

General Information on: 55-56
Disclosure (@) the policies; and

—BEE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
EHMREESNRBNRERELZS BE BHRLBEEUARBER
FER
(@) B%: &
() BFHBEITABEAZENEEZRAPINER
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
fEm iR 2ZH

B. Social
B. g

Operating Practices
EEER

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 - RES
General Information on: 56-57
Disclosure (@) the policies; and
—B R (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BEEP ILFRRE - B R - IFF AR
() BXx: &
() BFHBEITABEALENEBEAZRROINER -

Ccommunity

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8 : HERE

General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 57
Disclosure communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
—BEE into consideration the communities” interests.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
AWl

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision of fitting out and
engineering services, (i) provision of design and procurement of
furnishings and related products services, (i) leasing of construction
equipment, (iv) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines and (v) provision of financial services comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage services, asset
management services and money lending.

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a review of the
Group's business during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group’s future business development, possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events
affecting the Company which occurred during the year ended
31 March 2020 are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report and note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements which forms part of this directors’ report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance,
relationships with key stakeholders, and compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations are contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 40 to 62 of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2020
and the state of affairs of the Group as at that day are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 198.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2020, there are no reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set
out in notes 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's top five customers
accounted for approximately 78.5% of the revenue. The top five
suppliers accounted for approximately 79.9% of the total purchases
for the year. In addition, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
approximately 50.2% of the revenue and the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 31.9% of the total purchases for the
year.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
M. Liu Rongsheng
(resigned on 21 February 2020)
Mr. Wang Jun
Mr. Zhang Weijie

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the articles of association (the “Articles”).

In accordance with article 141 of the Articles, Mr. Wang Jun, Mr. Tsang
Kei Cheong and Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 23 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
A list of the names of the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
during the year and up to the date of this report can be found in the
Company'’s website at www.royalcentury. hk.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service contract or
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two to
three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year under review and up to the date of this report,
Directors’ interest in any business apart from the Group’s business,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the Group's business that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

EENRBEELK

REBEFA SEFEEARFLRBELIHK
ZEE VNSERRZE=F WARREEN
REMEREREE-REXHKEN BEES
SRR R RAEFMERRETLAN Al A EE R —
FARRIEMBFEEEE AT RERI RS
BREEREE-

EERCANEERBRFEB 2 BR

ROBEFAREEAREEH EFNELAEE
B EEKERBRR TR REBRETZ R
15 (BRAREEBIN) R HARBEGEM E MR A
FEN0MFATREN RN

Director
2=

Name of company
NCIECE

Nature of business
EBME

Nature of interests
s

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
PREIRST A

Hong Kong ChaoShang Group

Limited (“HK ChaoShang”,
formerly, Noble Century

Investments Holdings Limited)

and its subsidiaries

Money lending business
and securities and asset
management business

B ETSIA K 78 % 8
BETEXK

Executive director and
chief executive officer of
HK ChaoShang
EBHEIHITEER
T

FEHBREBERAR
(IERHE] AECHREE
ZRERRA) REHEAF

M. Liu Rongsheng
(resigned on
21 February 2020)

China Ocean Group Development
Limited (“China Ocean”, formerly,
China Ocean Fishing Holdings

PR E At Limited) and its subsidiaries
(R—Z—=F FRSFEBEEER AR
ZAZ+—HEE) ([FEEF] EPBEFHY

ZRER 2R REKERR

As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently to, and at arm’s length, from the business of
those companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any
business (apart from the Group’s business) which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year.
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS
There was no contract of significance between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of
the Group is set up by the remuneration committee of the Company.
Further details of emolument policy are set out in Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 18 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in note 14 and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
making mandatory provident fund contributions for its Hong Kong
employees.

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OF ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any interests or short positions
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ") as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”).

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 had the Directors
and the Chief Executive (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) any interest in, or been granted, or exercised any
rights to subscribe for the shares (or warrants or debentures, is
applicable) of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE

BaEkAR

COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and the Chief
Executive and based on the public records filed on the website of
the Stock Exchange and records kept by the Company, the interest
and short positions of the persons or corporations (other than the
Directors and the Chief Executive) in the Shares or underlying Shares

RAREEZERRRKRG REBERSG 2

R-E_ZF=—A=1+—B REFRTETH
ABRTA - RARAREE X P 8 vt 17 2 A FIRC 8% &
ARBMRIFZRE THALIEE (EERE
2ITBA BERIN R AR RER 17 oh E B AC 8%

MIRIEEF KB G 1R PI E33616BFE 2 B

as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of A Z#Em RABLAT
the SFO were as follows:
Long position in ordinary shares of the Company REATEBRZER
Approximate
percentage
Capacity/Nature of Number of of the issued
Name of shareholder interests in capital Shares held Shares
HERTREZ
RRHH B3/ REERLE RO E BREDL
Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (formerly known as Beneficial owner 84,612,000 16.19%
Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited) EREEA
EEAREEERAR (ABCHEEERERDA)
Time Vanguard Holdings Limited (Notes 1) Beneficial owner 50,000,000 9.57%
Time Vanguard Holdings Limited ( Fifz£1) ExBAA
Pure Virtue Enterprise Limited (Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 9.57%
Pure Virtue Enterprise Limited ( FfzE1) REEFERE 2 R
China Huarong Overseas Investment Holdings Co. Limited (Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 9.57%
China Huarong Overseas Investment Holdings Co. Limited (FizE1) R R #ERE 2 #
ZREGEEETERMAERAF Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 9.57%
EREGEETERMHERAF (HH1) REZFEE 2 B
Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co,, Ltd. (Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 9.57%
ERIEREATRERAF (M) REZEGNEE ¢ Ew
China Huarong Asset Management Co,, Ltd. (Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 9.57%

TEEREEEERNARAR (M)

N REL ek 3

—F N E-FEEHE 69



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

70

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
Wl

Notes:

1. 50,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of Time Vanguard Holdings
Limited, which is wholly-owned by Pure Virtue Enterprise Limited (‘Pure
Virtue"). Pure Virtue is wholly owned by China Huarong Overseas Investment
Holdings Co., Limited (“Huarong Overseas”), which is wholly owned by Z= &
EEEEBTERMNAR AR (ERER"). ERER is 91% owned by Huarong
Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) which
is wholly owned by China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“China
Huarong").

Accordingly, each of Pure Virtue, Huarong Overseas, FE &L, Huarong
Zhiyuan and China Huarong is deemed to be interested in the relevant
Shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there was no person
or corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executive) who
had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme enables the Company to grant options to
any full time or part time employee of the Company or any member
of the Group (the “Eligible Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally adopted
a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the
Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.

Annual Report 2019/2020

1. 50,000,000% % 17 73 % 52 A Time Vanguard Holdings
Limited% T~ » % /A & fi Pure Virtue Enterprise Limited
(TPure Virtue ] ) 2 & #E %  MPure VirtueflJfChina
Huarong Overseas Investment Holdings Co., Limited
(IHuarong Overseas | )& & # A ° Huarong Overseas
HERNEGEETERNARDANERERSZ
BB -EFRECHEAREREEEARELR
Al (TERBUR ) BEANBRMD RERMBURH T HE
MEEEEROARAR ([PREER])2EHEE-

# It > Pure Virtue « Huarong Overseas * FERIZE(S - 5
MBERTHERSARBEESFRBEKRIERR
RIBRARR (D HE B f s o

BRENFEBEN RZEFEF=A=1+—8"

BEEMALIOEE (BEEREBTHRABRIN)
R D SARRE AR (0 7 BB (LA e SRR IR RS 77 S
B GOIEBHEARRAFE 2 ECMAZ#

HRAR
BE HEINEDRH

WBZE-E-TFE=A=+—BLFEN &2
ARECAMBATYEBE L ERWEAR
AEAES -

B SR 8 1
RBE_F-_FF=A=T-ALFEN K%
13 48 8T 37 5% 7 R A AR SR 44 4 1k -

BBRAETE

B EEARR A AR R RAKE IR
BRAZEMERARBER ([REKRSEHE])
RHBRE (ERMEAREMERRZ ZE
FOFH RRBR T -EOFRNA=THB KA
IR R &) ([%aT8l)) - Bt EF K
R 2 @Y BIBRERE  KRZA B 2 1%
RAAERZ2EERIARBARARN (T
10]) 2 FERAE - T BN B ERAE A+
FHE-—BERRREXN-



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
AWl

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares granted
pursuant to the Scheme (the “Option”), the Eligible Participant shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.
The Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days from
the date on which the Option is granted. The subscription price for
the Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of the Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (ii) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for
the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Scheme does not exceed the
Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue of
a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a
period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of the Shares available for
issue under the Scheme is 30,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of
the issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") of the aggregate
number of Shares in issue immediately upon completion of the listing
of the Shares on 18 July 2014 and representing 5.74% of the issued
Shares as at 31 March 2020.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted and to be granted pursuant to the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the options
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue and
representing 5,226,000 Shares as at 31 March 2020.

Since the adoption of the Scheme, no share option has been granted
by the Company.

CEERERBR A A

REBEMRBZT SR LA REBR D 2 B
(MEREDE AER2EEARNARAXN
1.008 7T ERERERIE 2B - BhEZZN
AR BREE B R0 8- BRE 2K
NRBERHESTSETE THNGX2EE B
TRERTIEBEZ&ERE  (IRROBEREES
B (BAREORBIMEEZA T ([XHA]))
BRXAERRERME 2 ROKRHE: RINE
BRERHOBRES AR RER S BB ME A RE
RFTE 2 B g -

AR RVERE TRMNEBITEERE HEREZFEE
FTRHZMBBREEITER A TEITZRMNE
B NMSHEB T RS RITRN Z210% © FRR
#/E RAREGEM L 5 A3 HB 18 - NAB]A]
BERS AT ERR - ERRIBAN R B 2 R B A AT
MR EMAERFTREZMBRTTRBRERETE
BAITHRITZBRMAH THBAERDCHETR
17 230% ° B A IR %A Bl IR RN EZSETE
Z B ABER TR - ZHE N SHB L R S B ARE
B R T 6 AR RERRILIGARR -

REZ-TF=A=+—R REZ 8 HET
Z B 1 #80430,000,0000% 15 — T —M4E+ A
TNABEMD LRk E#ETRD210% (7
ERERE]) ARGR-_BE_BF=A=+—
B E BTN 25.74% -

BEROBEER M (2% ) ILEM2(E A B
- BT EAR BRI AR AT 8] N AN & B{EAT KA g
BB T RERTERER2REZBRE
(BRETEREARTTEZBRE) M2 #T RS
TRATZBRONER TREBEETRNEHZ
1% BIR —ZE _FF = A =+— H5226,0004%
H&{/\ 5

Bt B AR - AR BB B A -

—FNF S _FFFEHE

71



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

72

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
Wl

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Company has maintained the public float required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group has not made any charitable donations during the year
(2019: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the outbreak of the 2019 Noval Coronavirus (“COVID-19") in
early 2020, a series of precautionary and control measures have been
and continued to be implemented across the country/region. The
Group will pay close attention to the development of the COVID-19
and evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating results
of the Group. As at the date on which this set of financial statements
were authorised for issue, the Group was not aware of any material
adverse effects on the financial statements as a result of the
COVID-19 impact.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-
executive Directors were independent during the period from their
respective appointments and up to 31 March 2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions as set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements were connected transactions which were exempt from
any disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements are concerned, the remuneration of the
Directors as determined pursuant to the service contracts/letters of
appointment entered into between the Directors and the Group were
connected transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has complied with

the disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s articles of association provide that the Directors
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company against all action, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they may incur or sustain in the execution of the duties of their
office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors” liabilities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 24 to 39. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has appointed a compliance officer and an external
compliance adviser to oversee compliance with all relevant
regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
is set out in the five years financial summary on page 200 of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditor the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2017, 2018
and 2019 have been audited by Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA
Limited (“Reanda”).

On 8 May 2020, Reanda resigned as the auditor of the Company and
Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) were appointed as the auditor of the
Company to fill the casual vacancy so caused.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 have
been audited by Mazars who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Mazars as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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VB MAZARS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Royal
Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 85 to 198, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Mazars CPA LIMITED

hERE (FW) RSB A RA R
42nd Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

75 1 A ik 1 T 1 8 9E R BR B g 4248
Tel T iE: (852) 2909 5555

Fax f#: (852) 2810 0032

Email % %: info@mazars.hk

Website ffg4i: www.mazars.hk
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Annual Report 2019/2020
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

REETEE &)

Key Audit Matters
BREESEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFTEERBEASEZSE

Revenue recognition for provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services

Refer to notes 4 and 7 to the consoligated financial
Statements

The Group recorded revenue from contracts with
customers in relation to the provision of fitting out and
engineering services and design and procurement
of furnishings and related products services totalling
HK$16,658,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020.
REBEZE-ZT-_TF=A=+—RHLFE- E5EIREH
FAE R TR ARG A R %ot S BR B 5 (B S AE B 728 o AR 755 6%
158 U & $£7316,658,0007% 7T ©

Revenue is recognised over time using the input method
or the output method, as appropriate.
W R A A sk R (IRIEA T E ) Be s R -

Revenue recognised over time using the input method is
based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of the performance obligations, by reference to the
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of estimated total costs.

WaHEETE BESEATHKEHNRTMEERNZ MK
‘A WREHEREAREENOKN NS SIEE hEHE
BB LE A1 - {50 PR ) AR BE RS R R GR

RREHAEERIRREUARRTREBERER
HRERRE 2 WEER

BRI A A B REN IR

Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEZHRETIRER HPaE:

Understanding the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the revenue recognition
processes,

TR S FERIE T AT £ B BB e SRt AT

Challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted by the management in estimating total
revenue and total costs;

BB ETE(ART U E A A AR FT AN A = Z2 45T
MREFEREE A

Evaluating, on a sample basis, whether the key terms
and conditions in contracts with customers and
subcontractors have been properly reflected in the
estimated total revenue and estimated total costs;
DBRAAERE FHEARFPNOBEMAILHNERNA
ZEARGHRRIGEH RS E EER IR W k2
RN

ZENFE A CFFERRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

REETEE 2

Key Audit Matters
BREESEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFHTRERBENSEZSE

Revenue recognition for provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services (Continued)

Revenue recognised over time using the output method
is based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or surveys of work performed by the Group up
to the end of the reporting period.

WamEETE BESEEEERTHRERNRBNER
3% BESERRTIGAENEE FRBELERERRE

=7
At ©

Management reviews and revises the estimates of
revenue, costs and variation orders for each contract
by comparing the most current budgeted amounts with
corresponding actual amounts as the contract work
progresses.

EREGRANIRERE RAKBRIIMNEESHE
RERNER 5 B RETBMHE NN AR
FHETHEE-

The measurement of revenue involved the use
of significant judgements and estimates by the
management. As a result, we identified this as a key audit
matter.

WastE R EREGEREARABMGEE Bt 551
HiEERBRETFE-
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Discussing the status of projects with project managers,
to identify any variations of contracts and claims, and
to obtain explanations for fluctuations in margins and
changes in budget as well as the expected recovery of
variations; and

ERIE B IR 0w 1B B AR - AR E & R R B /T
/%) - WHVS A AR KRB RIEEF R RIE - EF
SEHMEMARWIER &

Comparing the revenue recognised, on a sample basis,
with reference to the certifications from independent
surveyors or performing recalculation of the revenue
recognised with reference to actual costs incurred and
estimated total costs.

MR WSS RBE A EMAMBEHBEENS
EX M2 RERE SR RAF(EET BB AN E #ER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

HEEETEE (2

Key Audit Matters
BREESEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFTEERBEASEZSE

Valuation of investment property
Refer to notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2020, the investment property held by the
Group was stated at fair value of HK$25,600,000.
RZZBEZTF=A=+—H E5EMFEZREME
LA Ft1825,600,00078 7T 71 B ©

The decrease in fair value of an investment property
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income was HK$2,600,000.
RéreBmEREMEEKERATRNEEDEN AR
{E{E T & A&2,600,0007% 7T °

The fair value of investment property as at 31 March 2020
was assessed by the management with reference to the
valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer engaged by the Group.

ERE2EZ ESBZRENBUEXGEMETNGE
A TR-IZEZEF=A=1T—AREVENAEE

The valuation of investment property involved significant
judgements and estimates, including prevailing market
rents for comparable properties in the same location and
condition, expected future market rents and appropriate
discount rates. Therefore, we identified the valuation of
investment property as a key audit matter.
BEMENHES RERAHENGE - SEHR I
BHEOTERYECRITMSEES BEHAKRTISES
MEENHRE At EEBREMENLERER
FARERT =1

REWMEZMEE
S E R R M iF4 K19

Our key procedures, among others, included:
EEZAREEF KR EE:

Evaluating the competence, objectivity and capabilities
of the valuer;
EBREEMBEE) BEEIRERTEE:

Understanding the valuation techniques adopted by
the valuer and assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation technigues; and

T R HERERA 2 EERME A G AERTEEEE
&

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key input data
used in the determination of fair value and comparing
the key input data to supporting evidence such as
recent market transactions.

SHEREE AN ERER BRAAZBBESIHE
Wi RS A BRI RE (WA mER S ) 1
th#R .
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

REETEE 2

Key Audit Matters
BREESEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
REFHTRERBENSEZSE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets and
goodwill

Refer to notes 4, 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
Statements

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of intangible
assets included securities licenses of HK$13,683,000 and
cross-boundary vehicle licence of HK$1,466,000, and the
carrying amount of goodwill amounted to HK$1,867,000.
RZEZEF=A=+—H EREEFAEEREH
7 h2 PR A HK$13,683,0007%8 7T I A 78 B 8 & AR /41,466,000
BT RSB REEER1,867,000% 7T ©

The Group is required to, at least annually, perform
impairment assessments of goodwill and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful life.
EEEGFAYRNERSEAREATFH BN EESE
TRET -

The goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life were allocated to related cash generating units
("CGUs") for impairment assessments. The management
engaged an independent professional valuer to determine
the recoverable amount of CGUs, which was based on the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
calculation.
HERSERARGCRFHCBEEESEZHEBENERS
EEBN ([@EASM]) ETREN G EREZE
—HBVEEGHEMBETREEEEMNAIRE S5
DRBEAARBEREALEERARERABEAEF RS
#o

The fair value estimation and value in use calculation
involved significant judgements and estimations.
Therefore, the impairment assessment is considered as a
key audit matter.
ARBEMGHEEABEAESRENABNMGET B
bt R ERH R AR ES S
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Our key procedures, among others, included:
EECHRETRR HRBE:

Assessing the identification of CGUs based on the
Group's accounting policies and our understanding of
the Group's business;

B EEEOSTTHR
HREEEBMN ZHA:

EEHEBEEBHN TR ¥

Evaluating the competence, objectivity, capabilities of
the valuer;
BEGLEMZBEE) EXENRARTEE:

Challenging the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions used by the valuer in determining the
recoverable amount of CGUs; and
HIGEMEREReEESM A RESBRATFEAN
FAMBRRNAEEREEN: &

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the calculations.
BEFERNEMEREN -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information in
the 2020 annual report of the Company but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process. The audit committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
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among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit F'EJ RERNEAERETER ZFHREE
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in & SEEFTBREF AT A 2 NEBEIE 2 EREXR
internal control that we identify during our audit. BRK o
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2020

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Yip Ngai Shing

Practising Certificate number: P05163
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Ak 17 45 2 B JU A 2 i 4k 3%

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FHET FHT
Revenue & 7 42,755 28,150
Cost of sales S AR (37,285) (20,503)
Gross profit E7 5,470 7,647
Other income H A 9 912 1,365
Other gains (losses), net Hihias (B1E) - 588 10 192 81
Impairment of intangible assets E|EERE 22 (5,403) 62)
Impairment of goodwill AR E 21 (854) =
(Allowance for) Reversal of allowance for U E R M EFEZEEIE
ECL on loan and interest receivables (Bfl) = (6) 58
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B RWGIETEREE
E RS (382) (93)
Allowance for ECL on contract assets EHEETRAEEREERE (65) =
Change in fair value of BEMENTEED)
investment property 19 (2,600) 3,200
Administrative expenses THAX (25,006) (32,050)
Finance costs A& A A 11 (1,207) (85)
Loss before tax bR AT E 1B 13 (28,949) (19,939)
Income tax credit (expense) FEF O (FAX) 12 835 (135)
Loss for the year attributable to AARHEEANBLFEEEE
owners of the Company (28,114) (20,074)
Other comprehensive loss for the year NEEZHMEEEE
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently B & i E# B E 18752
to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on translation #EBINERSEL 2
of foreign operations PE R ZETE (14) (91)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AARHEEABLEFEE2A
attributable to owners of the Company E BB R (28,128) (20,165)
Loss per share: B EE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) ERKEE (B 17 (6.05) (5.17)
The notes on pages 91 to 198 are an integral part of these FENEF198E KM T AL SHEATEHEROHA
consolidated financial statements. B EE 7 o
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B R DR

Asat31March2020 R-ZE-FF=H=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EfF —T-hEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FBT FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LIER TS 18 18,545 6,227
Investment property wEME 19 25,600 28,200
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 20 19,895 -
Goodwill HaE 21 1,867 2,721
Intangible assets mLEE 22 15,149 20,552
Deposits for acquisition of property, BEWHE HERERELRS
plant and equipment 297 -
81,353 57,700
Current assets MBEE
Loan and interest receivables EBREFRFB 23 6,136 5,962
Inventories RS 24 827 975
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EAMERGIE 25 14,797 19,212
Contract assets AWEE 26(a) 457 5,170
Tax recoverable AR [E 18 2 60
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTH R 27 10,698 27,009
32,917 58,388
Current liabilities mEBAaE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk HAvpER IR 28 7.704 7,619
Contract liabilities AHBE 26(b) 601 109
Income tax payable FERTFTISHE 25 25
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 6,827 =
15,157 7,753
Net current assets FRBEE 17,760 50,635
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAERE 99,113 108,335
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CEERERBR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i B R DL R

Asat31March2020 HR—-ZE—-ZF#F=H=4+—H
2020 2019
—E-EfF —T—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = FHBT FHET
Non-current liabilities SEmRBalE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBE B 30 2,554 3,452
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 13,566 =
Other payables H b e 5178 28 - 470
16,120 3,922
NET ASSETS FEE 82,993 104,413
Equity Eam
Share capital A% 31 175,595 168,887
Reserves {1 (92,602) (64,474)
TOTAL EQUITY B 82,993 104,413

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 198 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26
June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan Chi Yuen
Director
EZE

The notes on pages 91 to 198 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

HIINFBEFIVAZEAMBRREN-F
CEERACTAERESFSMAERRETIEY
BTINEERAERRE

Zhang Weijie
RENR
Director
EF

NEFIVENMERZFHRAMBEHRERNAE

—E-NE A E-TEEHE
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ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

88

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

Share  Accumulated Exchange
capital losses reserve Total
BA& ES 2 B ‘st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT TET FET FTET
(Note 31) (Note)
(HIEE31) (W)
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FWA—H 154,851 (44,276) (33) 110,542
Loss for the year AFEHE = (20,074) S (20,074)
Other comprehensive loss Hth 2 EEE
Exchange differences arising on REBNEBEECELZR
translation of foreign operations - = 91 91
Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ AFE 2 HEEEEE - (20,074) 91) (20,165)
Transactions with owners HBEBAZRS
Contributions and distributions: AERSE:
Issue of new shares under placing, RERERTHRG NKRER
net of expenses 14,036 - - 14,036
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-_E-AE=ZRA=+-HRK
RZZE-NFEMA—A 168,887 (64,350) (124) 104,413
Loss for the year rEEER - (28,114) - (28,114)
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EEE
Exchange differences arising on BEBINEBELZERZE
translation of foreign operations - - (14) (14)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEEBRAE - (28,114) (14) (28,128)
Transactions with owners HBEBEAZRS
Contributions and distributions: AERE:
Issue of new shares under placing, BEREETHRG  HRER
net of expenses 6,708 - - 6,708
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-TF=A=+—H 175,595 (92,464) (138) 82,993

Note: Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from translation of the financial statements of the Group's foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting

policy set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The notes on pages 91 to 198 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CEERERBR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
i Bl LR

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FHET F&T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KSR
Loss before tax BRI 18 (28,949) (19,939)
Adjustments for: RE:
Impairment of intangible assets B EERE 22 5,403 62
Impairment of goodwill EERE 21 854 -
Change in fair value of BREMELATEES
investment property 19 2,600 (3,200)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables B RWGIBEBEE
BiERE 6(b) 382 93
Allowance for ECL on contract assets GHEEBHEEBERE 6D 65 -
Write-back of other payables H b & 5 SR IR [E] 4% 10 (40) =
Allowance for (Reversal of allowance for) ECL  JEW EF kA BFaH{ZE
on loan and interest receivables BiERE (EE) 6(b) 6 (58)
Depreciation of property, M R REBINE
plant and equipment 18 4,618 1,979
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 20 7,146 =
Finance costs A& B A 11 1,207 85
Bank interest income RITFEWA 9 (76) 31
Write-off of property, plant and equipment L ERE TN R = 10
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKHBAR Z ke 33 (3) =
Gain on disposal of property, HEME HERREZ
plant and equipment Wz 10 (149) 91
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEBRIZ
in working capital KERORE (6,936) (21,090)
Changes in working capital: LEBSEE:
Inventories & 148 995
Loan and interest receivables R E F R F B (180) 18,081
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EH AR EIE 3,552 (12,302)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAD R IR 528 4,185
Amounts due from customers BUREFEHIEINIEA
for contract work - 163
Amounts due to customers EREFAHNIEIIE
for contract work - (166)
Contract assets AREE 4,648 (5,170)
Contract liabilities aRak 492 109
Cash generated from (used in) operations KERF (A 2RE 2,252 (15,195)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded (paid), net Km (B BEBERER
FEE 58 (192)
Net cash generated from (used in) REEERREB (FFA)
operating activities ZFRE 2,310 (15,387)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

By Bl AR

Year ended 31 March 2020  #

P CE_FTFE=/H=F—HIFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-nF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B ek FEx FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB E W% e MR E (17,087) (5,478)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEME BERRELRS
plant and equipment (297) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME- 1& ST
plant and equipment FriS k3 42 124
Net cash outflow from acquisition FERE Bﬁ Brmz
of a subsidiary Be ML F5E (470) (939)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries FRLENBATZ
BERANFE 33 307 -
Bank interest received EHERITHE 76 31
Decrease in pledged bank deposit BEIEFRITFRR D - 300
Net cash used in investing activities REZBFAZFERSE (17,429) (5,962)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Repayment of secured bank borrowing BEBEMARITEE - (6,689)
Interest paid BEATFE (1,207) (85)
Repayment of obligation under EERAHERASE
a finance lease - (90)
Repayment of lease liabilities EER i%% & (6,643) =
Proceeds from issue of BTN L AR ATS KA
new ordinary shares, net of expenses nKReEA 31 6,708 14,036
Net cash (used in) generated from RMEFE (A E2FRE
financing activities (1,142) 7172
Net decrease in cash and ReRBLEEWERD
cash equivalents (16,261) (14,177)
Cash and cash equivalents FOZRERELEEY
at the beginning of the year 27,009 41,277
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERE g v & & (50) 91
Cash and cash equivalents FRZESRESEEY
at the end of the year 27 10,698 27,009
The notes on pages 91 to 198 are an integral part of these ENZEFI198E MM T AZEHFRA M SRR
consolidated financial statements. &5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s £ VA5 8 0 B ik

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Hong Kong as a company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the corporate information section of
the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in:

(i) provision of fitting out and engineering services;

(i) provision of design and procurement of furnishings and
related products services;

(i) leasing of construction equipment;

(iv)  sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines; and
(v)  provision of financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands (“HK$'000") of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless

otherwise stated, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries.

—REH

CRERERAERAR ([AAR)NEE
HAMAEREETAR  ERNESTEHER
ZIBERAR ([BRAH]) GEMLET » &R
AlZEMREERERZEXMHUBERAR
FRZARER—Fhe

ARBR—HAREZEBRAB -ARARE
MEBAR (ATHES [ AEKE]) 2 X2

ot

() RERERIRERS:

(i) REFARKBERERBEE DR
7%

(i) THERERE:

(iv) SBEH: R

v  REEER-

BIEREREA ZEFAVBRERTIATE

T (MEx]) ([TEx]) 25 RARAE R
HEBWNBLRZNEE, -

—E-NE A E-TEEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s o W05 9 0 Y ik

Year ended 31 March 2020  #

2.

P CE_FTFE=/H=F—HIFE

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new/
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and interpretations
("Int(s)") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Annual Improvementsto  2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRSS

The impact of adoption of HKFRS 16 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 23
are described below. The adoption of the other new/revised
HKFRSs mentioned above does not have any material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 and related interpretations
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It
significantly changes, among others, the lessee accounting
by replacing the dual-model under HKAS 17 with a single
model which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for the rights and obligations created
by all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. For lessor accounting,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to
classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to
account for those two types of leases differently. HKFRS 16 also
requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessees and
lessors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok o 205 W M ke

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied HKFRS 16 for the first time at 1 April 2019 (i.e. the date
of initial application, the “DIA") using the modified retrospective
approach in which comparative information has not been
restated. Instead, the Group recognised the cumulative effect
of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the balance
of accumulated losses or other component of equity, where
appropriate, at the DIA.

The Group also elected to use the transition practical expedient
not to reassess whether a contract was, or contained, a lease
at the DIA and the Group applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
to contracts entered into or changed on or after the DIA that
are identified as leases applying HKFRS 16.

As lessee

Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts were
classified as operating or finance lease in accordance with the
Group'’s accounting policies applicable prior to the DIA.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted for the
lease in accordance with the transitional provisions of HKFRS
16 and the Group's accounting policies applicable from the DIA.

FERE] BT 2B BUBR
HFEA(TERMBREED])
(%)
ERUMBREEAE16KEE (&)
RIBBEHT AEER-T—NFINA—
A (ERERBH EREABE]) B
RAGETEAREEEAETENBRE
EAIF16H B Y WMBEFILLREAR - MAK
EERERER BRI EREREBR
REERBISRN R HERABRRHE
B H AR S (WER) 138
#’ o

AEETSRERABEATREDNE T
RERERBAHEHFHEORETANE
2—AME BAKEEREEMBEREE
AF15REANERRER B G LS
17BN REEN A RN EXER A H
KRV ABEWRBEEMEREE
AIFE165R BRI REERNEL -

EREBEA
REAE BT HREENF165E8 - RIZE
RIER BB ERNASESHER HE
BHNDERREHEYRENE-

REMBEENBREERNF 1651 AEE
RIEF B I 75 S 2RI B 1657 MY 1B 53X
MEERERBHRERNAEE G
REBEET AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok o 205 W M ke

Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (continuea)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

AS lessee - leases previously classified as operating leases
When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical
expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant
to the respective lease contracts:

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the DIA;

ii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the DIA,

ii.  applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar remaining characteristics; and

iv.  used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease.

At the DIA, except for those that were previously or will be
accounted for as investment property using the fair value
model, right-of-use assets were, on a lease-by-lease basis,
measured at either,

(@  their carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 had been applied
since the commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the DIA; or

(b) an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised immediately before the
DIA.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2020 &

2,

R oE_FFE= =1 —HIFFE

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continuea)

AS lessee — leases previously classified as operating leases
(Continuea)

On transition, the Group has made the following adjustments
upon application of HKFRS 16:

At the DIA, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related lease
liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition.

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate at the DIA. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 5%.

Reconciliation of operating lease commitments disclosed
applying HKAS 17 as at 31 March 2019 and lease liabilities
recognised at the DIA is as follows:

2. ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ/%ﬁ‘éﬂ“‘?Z??ﬁ 5 75 ¥

HEA(TEBMBHREER])

(#)
ERAMKBRELENE16KEE (&)
EREBAN ()

TEBETN — LI D ERIACEHENHE
(4&)

RiBER  AEBCNERE B BHREE
A6 IR MR IA T -

RERERBY AEEEBEBUHERE
ZERI 1657 CRD)INBUBIR RS HER BRI
HERBERERREE SRAFRERE
SafE-

7¥K$HAEA§/AfFHEHEEﬁi %TJXﬂ
BRIR o N ERJE R B AR IR TR S8
K 35% °

&=
KEF

—hEF=ZA=+—HERBEES
HERE7RBEE L EHEAERNER
FERAMER cHERBENHERINT

HK$'000
FAT
Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 —ET-NF=A=+—H2
é%ﬁ%ﬁ#" 19,291
Less: Discounting using the lessee’s incremental B R ERFER BB RAE AL S ER
borrowing rate at the DIA IR AEFTALIR (1,153)
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term and B ERRE—RREEEHREE
low-value leases (616)
Add: Liabilities for renewal option previously not SRR R A 2 EAER A
reflected in operating lease commitments RIEEEEENERE 9,827
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 E—NFNA—HNEEEE 27,349

AS lessee — leases previously classified as finance leases

The leasehold land and buildings of the Group that are held for
rental or capital appreciation purpose and previously classified
as finance lease under HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property” and carried at fair value.

TERAA LRI BB EHENHE
BREEEGFENBEI7TROEAREEE
ZHER $%@%ﬁfﬁﬁfﬂiéﬁ$%@é’]
HEtEETF - EHRESEBERERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (continuea)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

AS lessee — impact on the consolidated statement of financial
position

At the DIA, except for those that meet the definition of
investment properties, all other right-of-use assets were
presented within the line item “right-of-use assets” on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Besides, lease
liabilities were shown separately on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
adoption of HKFRS 16 have not been included.

FERZET,RIEFT 2 BB I K H
HEA([EEUHREER])

(%)
ERUBHREENE16RESE (&)
EREBA (&)

TERATN — B e MR RX A&

RERERBY RHAREMEEERZR
RIN B EMEEEZ NGRS MR
R ERBEEE|HEA- UM HERE
EHREWBRRERTEBIIR -

NI —FT—NFOA - AR MR
NERANERSEMELRE - WERFAT
XERERABEAMBRELEMNE 1R E
HIEE e

Impact of the
adoption of
31 March 2019 HKFRS 16 1 April 2019
ZE-RE  FABFEUREHE —E-hE
=ZA=t-H ERIE165R M mA-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FEL THL
Line items in the consolidated RNEBHBREEDE165
statement of financial position as at FENR-B-NE
1 April 2019 impacted by the A-B&EHE
adoption of HKFRS 16: RREHIER:
Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-Use assets FHERE - 27,349 27,349
Current liabilities RBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - 6,849 6,849
Non-current liabilities E ok )=V
Lease liabilities HEEE - 20,500 20,500
As lessor EREHEA

The Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition
for leases in which the Group is a lessor but is required to
account for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the
DIA and comparative information has not been restated.

Except as described above, the adoption of HKFRS 16 does
not have any material impact on the consolidated financial
Statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

2,

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 sets out how to determine the accounting tax
position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments.
The interpretation requires the Group to determine whether
uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group
and assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be
used, by individual group entities in their respective income tax
filings. If it is probable that the relevant tax authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income
tax filings. Otherwise, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected
by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

The adoption of HK(FRIC)-Int 23 does not have any material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
New/revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new/revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to Definition of Material’
HKASs 1and 8

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
HKFRSs 7 and 9

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concession?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

. Effective date to be determined
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (continuea)

New/revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continuead)

The Group is in the process of making a detailed assessment
of the possible impact on the future adoption of the new/
revised HKFRSs. So far the management is of the opinion that
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs will not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2019 consolidated financial statements except for
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property that is
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continuead)

control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's
returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained
through: (i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders;
(ii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv)
a combination of the above, based on all relevant facts and
circumstances.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above. Consolidation
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control of the
subsidiary and cease when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, profits or loss, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or
to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date
when control is lost.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continuea)

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combinations
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share
in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying amount of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-
measurement are recognised in profit and loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 either in profit and loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUS"), or groups of CGUS, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying amount of the
CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses. The
carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable
amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the
recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

= Sales of fine and rare wines
- Provision of fitting out and engineering services

= Provision of design and procurement of furnishing and
related products services

- Provision of installation service for leased construction
equipment

- Provision of financial services except for providing
finance
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continuea)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuea)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(a)

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that
is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern of
transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@)

the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuead)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The
Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced:; or

() the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continuea)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuea)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continuea)

The Group bases its estimates of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customers, the type of
transactions and the specifics of each arrangement. Revenue is
recognised as follows:

Sales of fine and rare wines

The Group sells fine and rare wines. Revenue from sales
of fine and rare wines is recognised at a point in time
when control of the products has been transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs
when the products have been delivered to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the customers
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

No contract liability and right to the returned goods
are recognised as insignificant amount of returns are
expected based on previous experience.

Receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision

of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of installation services for
leased construction equipment

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as
a service contract when the contract relates to work on
assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuead)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continuea)

ii)

Provision of fitting out and engineering services/Provision

of design and procurement of furnishing and related
products services/Provision of installation services for
leased construction equipment (Continued)

When the outcome of a service contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised over time using either the output method (i.e.
based on direct measurements of the value of services
delivered or measurement of work performed and the
estimated total revenue for the contracts entered into
by the Group) or the input method (i.e. based on the
proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as
compared to the estimated total inputs), as appropriate,
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation.

If the projects have no alternative use to the Group
contractually and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment from the customers for performance completed
to date, the Group satisfies the performance obligation
over time and therefore, recognises revenue over time
in accordance with the input method for measuring
Progress.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and
liquidated damages are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continuea)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continuea)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continuea)

iii)

Provision of financial services except for providing

finance
Commission income for broking business is recorded as
income at a point in time on a trade date basis.

Underwriting commission income, sub-underwriting
income, placing commission and sub-placing commission
are recognised as income at a point in time in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement
or deal mandate when relevant significant act has been
completed.

Proof of funds commission and clearing and handling
fee income are recognised at a point in time when the
relevant transactions have been arranged or the relevant
services have been rendered.

Management fee is recognised over time when the
relevant services have been rendered.

The principal input applied in the input method is:

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing:
costs incurred.

The principal input applied in the output method is:

- Provision of fitting out and engineering services/
provision of design and procurement of furnishing
(only applicable when surveyor was appointed):
surveys of performance completed to date.

- Installation services income from leased

construction equipment: square meters of areas
completed to date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continuea)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of 10ss
allowance) of the asset.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases of construction
equipment and investment property is recognised when the
assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract
is presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For some of the contracts for fitting out and engineering
services, design and procurement of furnishing services
and installation services for leased construction equipment
businesses, the Group receives from the customer the whole
or some of the contractual payments before the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing
of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue.
During that period, any significant financing components, if
applicable, will be included in the contract liability and will be
expensed as accrued unless the interest expense is eligible for
capitalisation.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continuea)
On the other hand, for some of the contracts for fitting out and
engineering services, design and procurement of furnishing
and related products services and installation services for
leased construction equipment businesses, in accordance with
the standard payment schedules of the Group, payments are
not due or received from the customer until the services are
completed or when the goods are delivered. However, for such
transactions, revenue is recognised over time and therefore,
a contract asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable
or payments are received. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract asset and recognised as interest income.

For sales of fine and rare wines, the Group receives payments
from the customer which are largely in line with the timing
of revenue recognition and no significant contract assets or
contract liabilities are recognised.

Leases

Applicable from 1 April 2019

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

AS lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

AS lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
COmprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b)  any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use (unless the lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term
or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset)
as follows:

Office premises
Warehouse

3 years
6 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

AS lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
AS lessee (Continued)
The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(@ the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(@ the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

(c)  the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting

the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)

AS lessee (Continued)

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

AS lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

AS lessor — operating lease
The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Applicable before 1 April 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable before 1 April 2019 (Continued)

AS lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

AS lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit
or loss. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or l0ss in the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

3.

BERESFBE (#)

SN ()
HEERBEANENREEREAMEL
ZERZER R ELS RN AP RER o

BENTREFERIBEMEL CERZRIR
NHEFARSE B  EENREFRER
BEEREMEmEETERZIFERIE
B ATE A 2 [ ZRAIRRSN EXIBRT -
PR ERTE RN E M2 RS R -

MEINGEMBERERM S NEEBINER
ZEERABBNENERERRZAITE
EMERAEE 2258 (BET)
HRARRASIER HRAFE 2 FHEX
mE-MEACZENLZR (WA) IR EM
EHEEEPIER  WRINEFER T EER
T R&te

BE R
EEXRATINEES BRNER T ER -

B

EASERABEEHMARERR AT
FHEEMT METZEEAETER LA
EREEN R EREEHAEEL /R
A ST SRR RE BHEREEZ
XHEEEEAXHFEREABABERAE
W AREEN S HREPREMNEME L
H PR ARBRE B 2 &A= b5t - i B BB
BEBELRRAEZEEXN MRESRER
BITEEREMTE X HZRE - WA ETR
HEEHSESER NEERRSERR
EREE HERNEEER EEER T

7
e

R S

115



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

116

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s o W05 9 0 Y ik

Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the employees of the Group's
entities established in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to these plans are expensed
in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

3.

EXRETHE @)

Bi1E
PG TR e BN R FE M B TB OB TR B 2
A~

BIHARE N IR oI AN 2 FE R B AR & o
F A FE ER 19 a8 M 3 M B LAt F P AR AR
HATHRZ WA KRR - TRERtABA
A AR 2B - MARNRERAER
NEMEERE R 2R ZBRB DR &
SEZAMBEEABRDEARREHRD
BMONEE FERMBIREGFE -

ELER ARGV BHREANEERAER
B E A B ERBUE N S RA 2 AR E
ZEZ B ERETIARR A ERTE R
ERRERD/ETEHAAE - M HE
PRAZEAMHERZE 2 EBRTOE N - Bl
FERMREREZE - REEISETR
HEE WMHZERZBEDRABER AR
5 (RBEHRIN PO S HEREMEER
BEMZERLEZERRTENKES
B AT EHARSEERAGE:

BT EASEEMEHHETREZERNE
TEHERARSIOPEERIEZEIN RIT
HEABERRENBAR A1F/ SELE
N E NP SR ARRNE R E
R BEENESHEBZ AT MREREER
MELZEEHBAEE ENEAREEE
MRE AR ARV N EHTREEZR
Z A AE R BEET - T & T IARER

SEFNF S CFCEFERE

117



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

118

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s o W05 9 0 Y ik

Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continuea)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment to their residual value, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives
or depreciation rates as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of unexpired lease
term or useful life of 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles 3years
Construction equipment 5 years

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or l0ss.

Investment property
Investment property is property held by owner or lessee, to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Before 1 April 2019, investment properties included those
properties held by owner, lessee under finance lease, or lessee
under operating lease which satisfy the definition of investment
property and are carried at fair value.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at its fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment property are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise. The fair value of investment
property is based on a valuation by an independent valuer who
holds a recognised professional qualification and has recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued.

3.

BERESFBE (#)

VI3 HEE R R (2)
FETRAERRRYE  #S kKRB
S AT A A B S AT B R DA BE R
RerEE (WF) TIAERNT :

HEMERE frd £ 7H I 5 34 A {58

FHzREE
RIBMEE R 3F
MRERME 35
E 35
AR 54

B AERFRRTEDZENERE
THRERER ST AEAUEE FHEY
SREHEEAR-

]
@

Y% R RRERE R EREBRSE
ERZEER/RTEEERRLEMREK
LEHER - M EHMEYE MR L REEE
EEZEAREREERFRBRFERZ
BERAEZZMAAE YHEBSTER -

REWE
REMERRRIES R HEREEMN
HEBEARFBEZYER -

E-_Z-NFUA-RZ REVEERE
mEAA  RERMEREEM ZABALR
BEEHEHEMABARE ZWE  MZ
EMEFARENEZIERLRAFET
AR o

REMENTHKATE  EhEEEME
BREGRAX -NUFTHERE REVERER
FEFE -REVEQTEEBELE Z Wa
FEBRELHFABR - REVMEZR
FEDRBBAED (ARAERTZE
RERWINMEE R 2 R RIBH 7 E
B ER) EH 2 mEAE-

—E-NE A E-TEEHE

119



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s o W05 9 0 Y ik

Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwiill

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from the date
of change is in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there
is any indication that its property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In addition,
the Group tests its intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets that are not yet available for use
for impairment by estimating their recoverable amount on an
annual basis and whenever there is an indication that those
assets may be impaired. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or l0ss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. The Group derecognises
a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continuead)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group'’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or 10ss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

o Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

. Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and contract assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade receivables is measured as either 12-month
ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with the
terms stipulated in the agreements, management considers
these receivables as underperforming or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continuead)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continuea)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors
(vi)  external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of debt instruments
measured at fair value through OCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continuead)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates,

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

. actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

As detailed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, bank balances and other receivables are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continuead)

Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical
experience of recoveries of similar assets. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due, taking into account legal advice if appropriate.
Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(viy  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity's
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying the entity's
accounting policies (Continued)

Classification of leases - as lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date which
involves the overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. As part of the assessment, the Group
considers all the relevant factors including the contractual
terms and the circumstances of the contractual parties to
determine the substance of the transaction.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue from contract with customers within HKFRS
15

Revenue from fitting out and engineering services and design
and procurement of furnishing services is recognised over
time, which is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract, as well as the work done to date. The Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs
and variation orders, prepared for each construction contract
as the contract progresses. Budgeted costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of management. In order to keep
the budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts
periodic reviews of the budgeted costs by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the contract
revenue, contract costs and variation work which may have
an impact on revenue recognised to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or
lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue recognised in future periods as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuead)
Income tax

As at 31 March 2020, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses of approximately HK$113,627,000
(2019: HK$116,325,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits or taxable temporary differences
are less or more than expected or change in facts and
circumstances which result in revision of future taxable profits
estimation, a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or l0ss
for the period in which such a reversal or recognition takes
place.

Allowance for ECLs on loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECLs for loan and interest receivables,
trade and other receivables and contract assets based on
the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The allowance for ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic conditions.
The information about the ECLs and the Group's loan and
interest receivables, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are disclosed in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. If the financial condition of the customers or the
forecast economic conditions were to deteriorate, the actual
loss allowance would be higher than estimated.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continuea)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuead)
Estimated useful lives and impairment of property,
plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives, and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of those assets of
similar nature and functions. Management will increase the
depreciation where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives. It will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable
lives and therefore affect the depreciation charges in future
periods.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
management has to assess whether an event has occurred
that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the
asset value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be
determined based on the higher of the value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal, which involve significant
judgements and estimates.

Valuation of investment property

Investment property is carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2020 at its fair value of
approximately HK$25,600,000 (2019: HK$28,200,000). The fair
value was based on a valuation on this property conducted by
an independent professional valuer using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group's investment property and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continuea)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether goodwill and intangible
assets have suffered any impairment based on impairment
assessment performed at least annually and whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the intangible assets may not be recoverable, in accordance
with the stated accounting policy. The recoverable amounts
of the goodwill and intangible assets have been determined
based on the higher of the fair value less cost of disposal and
value in use. These calculations require the use of estimates.

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities - as
lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit
in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the
discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that
is readily observable as the starting point and then applies
judgement and adjusts such observable rate to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategies
remain unchanged from prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. Based on the directors’
recommendation, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividend, issuance of new shares
as well as the raising of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

A group entity is regulated by the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC") in Hong Kong and is required to
comply with the financial resources requirements according
to the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the
“SF(FR)R"). Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the
liquid capital level of the regulated entity to ensure compliance
with the minimum liquid capital requirements under the
SF(FR)R. The regulated entity has complied with the capital
requirements imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. E®MIA
6(a) Categories of financial instruments 6(a) £E T AR
2020 2019
—E-EF —FT-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Financial assets at amortised cost Z#ERARIR 2 ERMEE
Loan and interest receivables ERERRFE 6,136 5,962
Financial assets included in ATAE S REAMERGRIEZ
trade and other receivables TREE 14,297 12,143
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTHES 10,698 27,009
31,131 45,114
Financial liabilities at BREBERAIEzZeREE
amortised cost
Financial liabilities included in AABSREMENTIEBEZ
trade and other payables THAE 6,903 6,785
Lease liabilities HEARE 20,393 =
27,296 6,785

6(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include loan
and interest receivables, trade and other receivables,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6. €RITH (%)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) HKEMREEEERBE (&)

policies (continuead)

Market risk ™ %5 Bk
currency risk B

The Group has certain portion of bank balances and
cash, trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables denominated in currencies (such as Renminbi
(‘RMB"), Singapore Dollars (“SGD") and United States
Dollars (“US$")) other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise. The management
reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly and
considers there is no significant exposure on its foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances with variable interest rate. The
Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to loan
and interest receivables, trade and other receivables and
contract assets. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
lifetime ECL on trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has considered historical and
available forwarding-looking information in estimating
ECL.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6. €ERITH (%)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6b) HKEMREEEEREE (&)

140

policies (Continuea)

Credit risk (Continuea)

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk represents the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Bank balances
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings

EERE (&)
R-IZE-_ZEF=A=+—H £5%H
ERiEERR  TIRBLHRE BN
KRz EACREES B ZRE
B

R EERRRERK TEBER
EEREENEBEEEEER
BERE UMK EMEERR
TARELR & pLUK 178 B B 7% SRR IR
T8 U REER S HREH R
BB R B ER 2 AT E M A
RO BLRBEIR E 2 SRR IEH = 5908
BEEBR-BRUTME ARAREFEAR
rEBZEFEERBEABRIE-

RiTAFR
BN SE FHRERAEETRE
BHARBEEFRIRIT WRBE

assigned by authorised credit-rating agencies. S EERRER -
Other receivables E y JEK L H

The Group considers that other receivables have low
credit risk based on the counterparties’ strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuead)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account
the historical actual credit loss experience over the
past 3 years (2019: 3 years) and the financial position of
the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. The Group normally allows
average credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days (2019:
30 to 180 days) to its trade customers. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
management.

6.

€RMIAE &)
6(b) BEMREEEERKE (£)

FERR (&)

B b fE W E (&)

R FEREEERN ~AKECE
BBEF (ZE-NF 3F)NESL
EREEERERARI ZH T
Bk BRELZE (AREE)RS
HFEERE JERZRE RSN
FMER UREBARIZHFLL
TTRERGEMNE A AT R =(E
AR EMATZEEREERY
HeUREBERTHROERE-

EH IR EABRRR AT EIELE
CETE

B2 WA
REBERERIREERTIZES
FRG REEBNBRKR FiBEHE
WERERETRHNRE L MAE
TERAREREF ASEAEHLRTE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6. @I R (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) MERMEBEEZERBEER (&)
policies (Continuea)
Credit risk (Continuea) FEERK (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEWRIE (&)
The information about the exposure to credit risk and BB SRR IEZEERR KTEH
ECL for trade receivables using a provision matrix is EEBEFERBEEREANER BN
summarised below: ™
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
BHEEX EHAE FRRE FERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Aok TAEL THET
At 31 March 2020 R-Z_ZF
=ZR=t+-8
Not past due KB 1.0 5,549 (55) No &
Within 90 days past due WHEZ90AR 14 4,699 (66) No &
91t0 180 days past due WE91Z 1808 1.7 639 (11) No &
18110 270 days past due #E812270H 2.7 300 (8) No &
271 10 365 days past due #H2712365H 28.3 1,184 (335) No &
Over 365 days past due WE365A B E 100.0 4,148 (4,148) Yes B
16,519 (4,623)
At 31 March 2019 R=B-h%E
ZA=+-H
Not past due Nk 10 8,016 (83) No
Within 90 days past due B H1290H 1.4 700 (10 No #&
Over 365 days past due @365 H A £ 100.0 4,236 (4,236) Yes B
12,952 (4,329)

The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuead)
Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for trade
receivables are set out below:

6.

€RMIAE &)
6(b) BEMREEEERKE (£)

ERER (F)
5 mWRE ()

3 5 OB R T (5 B A
B2EBWT:

2020 2019

—EC-EE —T—hEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT FH&T

At 1 April HIA—H 4,329 4,889
Increase in allowance LN 382 93
Write-off of allowance B - (653)
Disposal of subsidiaries & B B A Al (88) =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 4,623 4,329

Included in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are individually impaired trade receivables
with an aggregate balance of approximately
HK$4,148,000 (2019: HK$4,236,000) which had been
long outstanding. The individually impaired trade
receivables are recognised based on the credit history of
its customers, such as financial difficulties or default in
payments, and current market conditions.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as approximately 21% (2019: 41%) and 72%
(2019: 91%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

Z ZERFEREREPRIEC B
ZENERNBEREER S EKFE &
HB#I4,148,0008 L ( ZT—NF:

4,236,0007% 7T) - L E @RI EREE
SERZBEERETFNEEL
B FIANEA TS IR S 3B LY BRI
TTBIERIERER

R-ZZE-_ZEF=A=+—H -HRE
SRV IBBE L H21% (ZZT—A,
F41%) T72% (ZE—NF:91%)
BRAEREEZHEATFREAAR
F i ASEmEEERRET2E
;Ro
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€RMIA &)
6(b) IS EMEERERBE (#£)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continuea)

Loan and interest receivables

Regular reviews on these loans are conducted by the
management based on the historical information about
counterparty default rate, latest status of these loans and
the latest available information about the borrowers.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience of the borrowers and the financial
position of the counterparties by reference to, among
others, the background search for individual clients, their
management or audited accounts and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case.
There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group recognised l0ss
allowance of approximately HK$190,000 (2019:
HK$184,000) on the balances. The information about
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for loan and interest
receivables is summarised below:

FERRE (&)

JEWE R FIE
EEERBEAMNENXRNBEER
¥ ZEE RO RN R AE T B &
MO BEREREERETERE
o

ETRHEEERRETE B 16 ER
NREERRETREEN SRE
ETBEEEREREBHENELX
X2 B8R AEEEEZRETFPNE
BE = HWmAYRKARIRSRL
X REGEFEPZREBEEHEREBER
CEABEBRES XRHEBARERN
BUHERZEETTEERETEN R
BB ELRE U %EER
BEMNENORE DESBRTED
BV - FAPTEMFT RITREAR
R o

R-ZE-_TF=-A=+—H A&%E
T 45 4 TE 3R 85 18 18 18 49190,0007 7T
(ZZ— 5 184,000 7T) - B EfE
WEREFEZ EERKRKIBHEER
E 1 AREER N E R T

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
Basis of ECL loss rate amount allowance
BHEE
BEEE BHEEE REAE EBERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bl THAT THT
At 31 March 2020 R-E-%F
=A=t-8
Not past due R 12-month 3.0 6,326 (190)
12188
At 31 March 2019 R-2-N%F
=R=+-H
Within 90 days past due #E1Z90R 12-month 30 6,146 (184)
1218 A
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6.
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuead)
Credit risk (Continued)
Loan and interest receivables (Continuea)
The movements in the loss allowance for loan and
interest receivables are set out below:

€RMIAE &)
6(b) HBEMETEEERKE (&)

ERER (F)
BREREFLE ()

SR B B B TR TR B 5 R A
BEZEBOT

2020 2019

—EEF —FT-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

At 1 April RImA—A 184 242

Increase in allowance LN 6 =

Reversal of allowance 18 [0 1% - (58)

At 31 March R=A=+—8H 190 184
contract assets BB E

As at 31 March 2020, the Group recognised loss
allowance of HK$65,000 (2019: Nil) on the balances. The
information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for
contract assets using a provision matrix is summarised

R-ZE-_ZF=ZA=+—8 &%
I T 45 o4 B R S 1B 18 55 4965,00075 7T
(Z2—NEF &) -BHEENEEZ
EERRREREEEEFEARES

below: fa ) &R an T
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
BHEEE REAE EBERE FERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt THT AL
At 31 March 2020 R-ZBZEF
=R=t+-H
Not past due K 12.5 522 (65) No #&
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NEF
=A=1+—-H
Not past due R - 5170 - No £

ZENF S CECEFRRE
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 6. €EWMI R (&)
6(b) Financial risk management objectives and 6(b) MERMEBEEZERBEER (&)
policies (Continuea)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (£Z)
contract assets (Continued) BHEE (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for contract assets MENEERREBREEBERE
are set out below: FEINT
2020 2019
—EEF —E-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
At 1 April REA—H - =
Increase in allowance BN 65 =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 65 -
Liquidity risk REE SRR

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of source of funding and considers the risk
is minimal.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

6(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuead)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of each reporting period.

6. €MIA (%)
6(b) MBEMEEBZEREEK (&)

RBESEE ()

ZRERBMNERACRSRE -NE
BERKR HWASRERZBH X
APRBAIR S BT RIBH KA AR FHH

More than More than More than
3 months one year two years
but not but not but not Total
Within exceeding exceeding exceeding  undiscounted Carrying
0On demand 3 months 12 months two years five years cash flows amount
BB=fEA
BF88 BB-F BB=F B RER
RER ZfAR TZf8A {EFEBR=F BFBEIF BeNE FELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEL TR TAR TER TAL TR
At 31 March 2020 RZB-BF=A=+-H
Trade and other payables B REMERFE 6,433 - 470 - - 6,903 6,903
Lease liabilities HERRE = 1923 5,769 6,391 8,112 22,195 20,393
6,433 1,923 6,239 6,391 8,112 29,098 27,296
At 31 March 2019 W=B-hE=A=1+-H
Trade and other payables 25 REMERFE 5,845 470 - 470 - 6,785 6,785

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of current financial assets and current financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due to
their immediate or short-term maturities.

ARRIBFERR NEAMBHRET
REBIERACR AP SREERR
PemeBERRARSNEHRANEE
WEREERE QA FERSE -
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7. REVENUE 7. W=
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEBFARRZ 2 HHAT :
2020 2019
—E-EF ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Fitting out and engineering services income #E1& & T2 RS U A 11,694 14,327
Design and procurement of furnishings BAT MR B RE KRB E GRS
and related products services income PN 4,964 4,689
Installation services income from HEREXB 2 ZRERBEA
leased construction equipment 1,200 -
Rental income from leasing of THERERBEHES WA
construction equipment 2,406 -
Sales of fine and rare wines LHHEE WA 21,741 5,830
Interest income from money lending BEFEWA 750 3,304
42,755 28,150
Revenue from contracts with BEEMBRMEEREISHKET
customers within HKFRS 15: EEEHWE:
Revenue recognised at a point in time KRR — 5[] 2 R 2 A
— Sales of fine and rare wines —FBEEEWA 21,741 5,830
Revenue recognised over time RE—EREBAERZBZA
— Fitting out and engineering —RERTERBKRA
services income 11,694 14,327
- Design and procurement of — R RRBERER
furnishings and related products M E @R
services income 4,964 4,689
— Installation services income from —HEREXREZ
leased construction equipment T HE AR UA 1,200 -
39,599 24,846
Revenue from other sources: Ht RBA :
— Rental income from leasing of —HERERBHEHS KA
construction equipment 2,406 -
— Interest income from money lending —EFBWA
calculated using effective interest REBRFEETE
method 750 3,304
42,755 28,150
The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is AV BREEAFEISRAREREFLELN
based on fixed price. B U s B IR E E EAEET E o
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors, being the
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods or services delivered or provided. During
the current year, the money lending segment has been
consolidated into the financial services segment in order to
concentrate the resources of similar financial services activities
and reflect a more appropriate co-related nature of the related
financial services. The management considered that the
change in segment disclosure better and clearly reflects the
business development and structure of the Group, and helps
the shareholders or the potential investors better understand
the Group’s revenue structure. The corresponding information
for the year ended 31 March 2019 has been re-presented
accordingly.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are
as follows:

(@)  Provision of fitting out and engineering services (“Fitting
out and engineering services”);

(b)  Provision of design and procurement of furnishings and
related products services (“Design and procurement of
furnishings and related products services”);

2 EHER

RMTES DT BRERKE 2R/UAS
RERMFEDHIRAZEREPREN
BT 2 EmARBEE - NAHRE K
BN &Gt AT BRI D AR - IASRAIARL
W& BRI A B 2 BRI R AR AE B Bl AR
BEEAHRBILE -EEER/DHKE
BB B AF ROE M b SR R TR AP A SR B
R &R THRBNBRRIEEREE BT
WTRAEENPAEE BE_T-NF
AT BUEFENHBRENCSENR

i o

@@ IREEERIERE ([#ERIER
%1

b  RHERFREBERERBBEE®RR

% ([R5 RRBEREREEE®DR
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)
() Leasing of construction equipment (“Leasing of
construction equipment”);

(d)  Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
("Wines merchandising”); and

(e)  Financial services business comprising securities
advisory services, securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services and money
lending (“Financial services business”).

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segments assets include all assets except for corporate assets
which are managed on a group basis. All liabilities are allocated
to reportable segment liabilities other than unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities which are managed on a group
basis and certain other payables and accrued charges.

Revenues and expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable
to those segments. The measure used for reporting segment
results is profit/loss before taxation without allocation of other
unallocated corporate expenses and income.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the operating
segments and allocation of resources between segments, the
Group's results are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments and other head office and
corporate administration costs.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

8. ZEEMR (4

DEb R A
AT RAEER R REFEIZAT2HRIELE
2 EEHZ DT :

BE-ZE-ZEE=-A=1+—-HLEE

Design and
procurement
Fitting out ~ of furnishings
and and related Leasing of Financial
engineering products  construction Wines services
services services equipment  merchandising business Total
#BR RAREEEE
IERY REBEREE HERERE EHEE  SHBRHER a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz Ti#n TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
Segment revenue Rl 11,694 4,964 3,606 21,74 750 42,755
Segment profit/loss) AWER/ (B8) (2,126) (686) (7,883) 531 (7,561) (17,725)
Unallocated; RARE:
Other income EfA 890
Other gains (lsses), net Hibis (BB) 58 (152)
Central administrative costs PR A (8,951)
Change in fair value of investment property  REEATFERH (2,600)
Finance costs RERA (411)
Loss before tax BBiEE (28,949)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

BE_Z-NF=A=+T—HILFE

Design and
procurement
Fitting out ~~ of furnishings
and and related Leasing of Financial
engineering products  construction Wines Services
services services equipment  merchandising business Total
RER FAREREE
TiRRE REEERRE REREXR BHEE  SRBBER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TRL TRL TERL TET TR TEL

Segment revenue bl 14,327 4,689 = 5830 3304 28150
Segment profit/(oss) AEER/ (B8 (7.920) (3123) (3,709) 76 874 (13,806)
Unallocated: FAW:
Other income LN 782
Other gains (losses), net Efblis (B8) 38 (62)
Central administrative costs RRTEKA 9.968)
Change in fair value of REMELTEEE

investment property 3,200
Finance costs BENK (85)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (19,939

ZENF S CECEFRRE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. 7EER &)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities TEFRZEZHRELEDHE D 2 EEREA
by reportable and operating segments: (RS
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF=A=+—H
Design and
procurement
Fittingout  of furnishings
and and related Leasing of Financial
engineering products construction Wines services
services Services equipment  merchandising business Total
EBR  RRABAR )
IBRE REPEREE  AERERG EHEE  CRERER &3t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TR TR Thr Tin
Segment assets PEE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment nE HERZE 9 - 17,810 - - 17,819
Right-0f-Use assets fPREEE - - 13,738 - - 13,738
Goodwill BE 1,867 - - - - 1,867
Intangible assets EVEE - - - - 13,683 13,683
Deposit for acquisition of property, BENE HERZERS
plant and equipment - - 297 - - 297
1,876 - 31,845 - 13,683 47,404
Current assets THEE 6,620 1,146 2,575 4128 6,139 20,608
Segment assets ABEE 8,496 1,146 34,420 4,128 19,822 68,012
Unallocated: FAR:
Cash and bank balances BeRETEH 10,698
Others Eftr 35,560
Total assets per consolidated statement of GRUBHMRREELE
financial position 114,270
Segment liabilities A8E
Non-current liabilties FnaaE
Deferred tax liabilties BREBEEE - - - - 2,257 2,257
Lease liabilities HEAR - - 10,969 - - 10,969
- - 10,969 - 2,257 13,226
Current liabiities THAE 5,082 131 3,250 2 26 871
Segment iabities ABaE 5,082 131 14,219 2 2483 21937
Unallocated: FOR:
Others Eft 9,340
Total liabilties per consolicated statementof ~ HABKHRKABEE
financial position 31277
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. AHWER &)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTHMEEREE (&)
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZZE—NAF=A=+—H
Design and
procurement
Fitting out of furnishings
and and related Leasing of Financial
engineering products construction Wines services
services services equipment  merchandising business Total
RER RARRBEEA
Tk RiEBERRE HERERE BHEE  CRRBES it
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fix FEx T T T ThL
Segment assets AHEE
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment nE BERLE 312 402 5,398 16 - 6,128
Goodwil wE 1,867 - - - 854 2721
Intangible assets BVEE - - - - 18738 18738
2179 402 5398 16 19,592 27,587
Current assets THEE 6,103 329 8,053 6,257 6,022 29,733
Segment assets PHEE 8282 3,700 13,451 6,273 25614 57,320
Unallocated: KA
Cash and bank balances Be RRTEH 27,009
Others -0 31,759
Total assets per consolidated statement of  ERAM KRR R EELE
financial position 116,088
Segment liabilities ABEE
Non-current liabilties FnoaE
Deferred tax liabilties BEHEEE 63 - - - 3092 3,155
63 - - - 3092 3,155
Current liabilities e =Y 4,059 862 251 2 50 5,444
Segment liabilities HHEE 430 862 251 2 3182 8,599
Unallocated: KR
Others i 3076
Totalliabilties per consolidated statement of & ABBHNKEERE
financial position 11675
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 8. 7EER &)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTHEERERE (£)

9

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and RERPHARARDEEHBERME :

allocating resources between segments:

=n|

o all assets are allocated to reportable segments other e FBEEERBTYWE HRBNEMH-
than certain property, plant and equipment, investment BREWME- - ETENRE KA
property, certain prepayments, deposits and other o FEUGRIE KR & R ARTTEERRLASNTY
receivables and cash and bank balances as these assets RAI2WHOE ARSEENIREE
are managed on a group basis. BERER-

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other o FHBENRETEMAZ MEMERS
than certain accrued expenses and other payables, HRE-HFTHEBRE BTREMMRE
certain lease liabilities, certain income tax payable and MRETELEHIBAGUIINIEATZ
certain deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are WMo ARFaENIREREARE
managed on a group basis. e

154 Annual Report 2019/2020



CEERERBR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s £ VA5 8 0 B ik

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cortined) 8. DWER ()
Other segment information H fih 5 B & H}
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-_ZFE=-A=1+—-HLEE
Design and
procurement
Fitting out  of furnishings
and and related Leasing of Financial
engineering products construction Wines services
services services equipment  merchandising business Unallocated Total
Rt REE
HERNE
EERIRRE Emll  BERERE EHEE  SRMBER FAE @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TEr TAn TEn TEn TEn Tén
Impairment of intanglole assets  EREERE - - - - 5,055 348 5,403
Impairment of goocwil EERE - - - - 854 - 854
Allowance for (Reversal of BSRNZERS
allowance for) ECL on trade FEFREAR (B
receivables 207 169 25 (19) - - 382
Allowance for ECL on loan and EHEARNERBEE
interest receivables BERE - - - - 6 - 6
Allowance for ECL on contract assets AHEERHEEHERE - 65 - - - - 65
Change in fair valug of RENENTEE
investment property - - - - - 2,600 2,600
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - BERR B E
equipment a4 401 3,751 16 - 406 4,618
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets (R EAENE 155 - 3,297 - - 3,694 7,146
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBLR 2 M - - - - - (3) (3)
Gain on disposal of property, LENE BERRE NG
plant and equipment = - (19) = = (130) (149)
Additions to property, BEME WERRE
plant and equipment - - 16,184 - - 1,07 17,255
Bank inferest income RAMSHA - - = = = (76) (76)
Finance costs BARK 8 - 788 - - a 1,207
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BHEZZT-NF=RA=1+—HLFE
Design and
procurement
Fittingout ~ of fumishings
and and related Leasing of Financial
engineering products construction Wines services
services services equipment  merchandising business Unallocated Total
et RiRE
KERIEH
EERIERE Enkl HERERE BHEE SRRBER AR fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAR FAR TAx ThT FET FET
Impairment of intangible assets &R ZERE - - - - - 62 62
Allowance for ECLontrade B ZEMFERHEES
receivables BRE 16 2% - 53 - - 93
Reversal of allowance for ECL.  EWEZRFIEBEHEE
on loan and interest EREEERA
receivables - - - - (58) - (58)
Change in fair valug of BREMELTEED
investment property - - - - - (3,200) (3,200)
Depreciation of property, nE BERXENE
plant and equipment 133 1,055 - il - 770 1979
Gain on disposal of property,  HENE EEREZEZ
plant and equipment e ©1) - - - - - 91)
Additions to property, BEME KEREE
plant and equipment 80 - 5398 - - - 5478
Bank interest income RITFEHA - - - - = (31) (31
Finance costs BEKK - - - - - 85 85
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) DEER (&)
Geographical Information EER

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC, and
Malaysia.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is presented
based on the location of customers. The geographical location
of non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and investment property, and the location of the
operation, in the case of goodwill and intangible assets. The
analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers and
non-current assets by geographical location is as follows:

REBNEE FEEGFRAEGEE-

AEEREMBEPZWACERETF
BETERBDEERYE HBRRE
ERAREEMREYEM S IR EE
MEENERLCE  UNEERELEE

SRIERR SR - AEBIMIBMLE
KEIBEFIERBEERNRADHT LA
T

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets

REIMBEFEZBA FRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—BSRF ZTNF ZBSBF —FNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT THERT FET
Hong Kong i 38,969 24,517 81,351 57,696
The PRC H 3,500 1,008 2 4
Malaysia BRED 286 2,625 - -
42,755 28,150 81,353 57,700

Information about major customers FEEFzEH

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

EEAEERETEAEE10%A LHES
BERT

2020 2019

—E_EF —ET-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A™3 BEA3 N/A 5,550
Customer B2 B FBR? 21,459 5,330
Customer C'3 BFEC3 N/A 2,833

L Revenue from Fitting out and engineering services L REEERTEREH

2 Revenue from Wines merchandising 2 RE & HET R
3 The corresponding revenue in 2020 did not contribute 10% or more of € ZHBARARZE_ZEFIREMAER R
the total revenue of the Group Wz 2z 10% A £
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9. OTHER INCOME Hag A
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Bank interest income RITH BUA 76 31
Rental income el A 782 723
Sundry income HIFUA 54 611
912 1,365

An analysis of the Group’s net rental income from investment

AEERBREMEZBESBAFESNT

property is as follows: U
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Gross rental income from REKREMFE 2 HSWALLTE
investment property 782 723
Less: Direct operating expenses (included & EEZEX H (T ATHEX)
in administrative expenses) (104) (117)
678 606
10. OTHER GAINS (LOSSES), NET 10. Hiplhzs (558)  FE
2020 2019
—EZEF —ZT-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKMB QR Z WS 3 -
Gain on disposal of property, HEME WS REE KR
plant and equipment 149 91
Write-back of other payables L FE A SRIERSE 40 -
Loss on write-off of property, WEEYZE - R R B B 1R
plant and equipment = (10)
192 81

ZENF S CECEFRRE
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11.

12.

FINANCE COSTS 1. BMERAK
2020 2019
—E-ZF —E-hnF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Interests on: LATEIBZHE:
— lease liabilities —HEaE 1,207 -
- secured bank borrowing —EEFRITEE - 83
- obligations under a finance lease — R E M EAE = 2
1,207 85
INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 12. FIEH (EH)BAX
2020 2019
—E-EHF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Deferred tax (note 30) EERTE (M5E30)
Current year NEE (835) 135
Income tax (credit) expense for the year — FEFEH (@) 5 (835) 135

The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime was
signed into law and gazetted in March 2018. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits
of a qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25% and profits
above HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of other
group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI.

Annual Report 2019/2020
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continuea) 12. FEH (OF)BExX (#2)

No Singapore Corporate Tax has been provided as there is no R A 2N 55 B 70 5% M 4F JE 3 48 B T N3 B AR

estimated assessable profit for both years. FERR T m A - B AR BRFET DN A S B4 B
o

The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations in BRTPRREERLE2PBRDEMGH

Mainland China is calculated at the applicable tax rates on the EREBERITEAN RELEBEMRAEE

estimated assessable profits for the year based on existing HETERB R IR BRI R H -

legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to the REFHIE (KR) T HEGEBEREAM
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 2EWERRAT TR EE 2 ERIT

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
—E-EF ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FH&T
Loss before tax BRELRIEE (28,949) (19,939)
Tax expense at rates applicable to profits in ¥z A A ERBERAR KA E 2
the jurisdiction concerned BIEM X (4,801) (3,365)
Tax effect of income not taxable for RBWA B2
tax purpose (32) (543)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ N ATH0FRIBRA S 7 B A& S/ 42
tax purpose 457 24
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERTHRE R ETE 2
differences not recognised HBEE (841) 154
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIBB B 2B & 4,562 4,102
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised REERTRIEE B 2 FEA (180) (234)
Effect of tax exemptions granted gz BIBR R 22 = 3
Income tax (credit) expense for the year — FEFIBEF (B ) F X (835) 135
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13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. BRBIATES 18
The Group's loss before tax has been arrived at after charging REERKRERE ZBRBASIEE LR (5T
(crediting): A) THI&IE :
2020 2019
—RCRHE —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHT
Salaries and wages included HFeRkIE (BEREERAFR)
in cost of sales 789 516
Salaries and wages included in FEeRIE (BERTEHRASZH) :
administrative expenses:
Directors’ emoluments (note 14) BEMe (514 4,146 5,449
Salaries, wages and other benefits He IBERAEMBH
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (TBEEESHE) 6,309 10,792
Contribution to defined contribution plans 57 5 4t FR AR K 5T 21 5%
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (TBEEESEHE) 226 328
11,470 17,085
Cost of inventories sold FEHEXAE 21,173 5,579
Depreciation of property, plant ME - WBRRRETE
and equipment 4,618 1,979
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENTE 7,146 -
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 500 600
Compensation to a supplier HIEE R B (E 750 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR Z WS (3) =
Lease payment under short-term leases  RHHEE S
on premises 1,063 =
Minimum lease payments under operating AR A=W 2 &2
leases in respect of office premises =IEHEE - 6,943
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14. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 14. EEME
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable to the AEBRAFERZINRERNTFARAE
directors of the Company by the Group during the year are as EMEESBENT
follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020
—E_EE-A=t+-HILEE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Discretionary and other  contribution

Fees bonus benefits plans Total
HeA TEHEMR
EA MERA Hit @7l TR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET TET TET
Executive Directors: TES:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BRERLE - - 2,080 36 2,116
Mr. Liu Rongsheng BEERE
(resigned on 21 February 2020) (RZZT=TF
(note) ZAZT—HEE)
CiES) - - 480 9 489
Mr. Wang Jun FERE - - 240 - 240
Mr. Zhang Weijie RERLE - - 600 18 618
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong LLRELE - - 305 8 313
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BREE LA 130 - - - 130
Mr.Wu Zhao RKEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt & 120 - - - 120
Total FeH 370 = 3,705 71 4,146
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14. EEME #)

Year ended 31 March 2019
“E-NFZAZ+-HIEFE

Contributions
Salaries to defined
Discretionary and other contribution
Fees bonus benefits plans Total
e ERER
i WEIEa Hin &7 AR @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET TR THT THT
Executive Directors: #rE=S:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REEEE - - 2,080 38 2,118
Mr. Liu Rongsheng (note) B8R4 (M) = - 90 18 978
Mr. Wang Jun ITELE - - 240 - 240
Mr. Zhang Weijie RENGE (RZE-N\F
(appointed on 7 May 2018) TALBEZA) - - 540 - 540
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BEBRE _ 600 585 18 1,203
Independent non-executive BYFHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BReldt s £ 130 - - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao RIEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast & 120 - - - 120
Total @ar 370 600 4,405 74 5,449
Note: Mr. Liu Rongsheng resigned as the chief executive officer of the Misk: BIRERER-_T_TEF_A=-+—HEHT

Company with effect from 21 February 2020.

No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any
of the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

No emoluments represent the payments to a management

service company in respect of directors’ services in connection
with management of the affairs of the Group.
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15.

16.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 15. € REMW AL
EMOLUMENTS
During the year, the five individuals with the highest RAFEERN EAREEMESHZROATAA
emoluments in the Group include two (2019: three) directors FEF2(ZE-NF:DABLEEHE
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14 F HMWES TR a M BmERME14FRE -
to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of H3(ZZ—NEF:2) ABi e T -
the remaining three (2019: two) individuals were as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF ZT—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Salaries and other benefits e MEAETF 2,075 1,870
Contributions to defined contribution plans & &8t 2t 214 7% 72 45
2,147 1,915
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEN TR TEHE:
2020 2019
ZEZEF —ZE-NF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ABAH ABAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000/ 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7T — 1,500,000/ JT = 1
3 2
No remuneration was paid or payable by the Group to any of AEEBVERA GRS HALTIFHEN
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or FE - fERRSI M ARE B S MAREE &
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. 2 RESVERAEBBE BE_S_FFK
None of these individuals waived any emoluments during the —E-NEF=ZA=T-HLEFEMEZSE
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. ATHEEMBME -
DIVIDEND 16. BRE

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period.

BE-_E_ZTER_ZE—NhF=ZA=+—
AIEFESERMNSERRERE  BRE
B M BRHRE RS -
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AAEEBEARGEAREE L SREE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the ETHERBE:

following data:

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Loss attributable to owners of RERERAREEHEMS
the Company for the purpose NATHEE ANEIGZEE
of basic and diluted loss per share (28,114) (20,074)
2020 2019
—E-EF ZT—NF
'000 ‘000
F i F A&
Weighted average number of ordinary MERERARBESEMS 2
shares for the purpose of AR INRE T &
basic and diluted loss per share 465,075 388,062
HK cents HK cents
AL AL
Loss per share BRIEE
Basic and diluted EARREE (6.05) (5.17)
Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during the HREBE_ZE-_EFR T —NLF=A
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, basic and diluted loss =+ RALEFEABEBLEEE TITR
per share are the same for both years. 7 EREAREEGREEABR -
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. M5 -HBRRIE

Leasehold  Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles equipment Total
HENE RENEE
# %E WOERME RE BERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TAT
Cost; AR
At 1 April 2018 R=ZF-\EMA—A 2,751 2,159 1,19 1,342 - 7371
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EE AT - 1 - - - 1
Transfer & = (1,228) = = - (1,228)
Disposal and write-off HE R = 7 = (224) = (271)
Additions RE 3352 - 185 - 1,941 5478
At31March2019and 1April 2019 R=E-AF=A=+—RHK
“F-NFEA—A 6,103 885 1,304 1,118 1,941 11,351
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (479) (165) (1,053) (416) - (2,113)
Disposal and write-off HEREH (1,070) = (10) (696) (25) (1,801)
Additions NE = = 38 1,191 16,026 17,255
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-FF=fA=+—H 4,554 720 279 1,197 17,942 24,692
Accumulated depreciation: ZiE:
At 1 April 2018 RZF-\EMA—A 1513 742 827 957 - 4,039
Transfer #% - (666) - - - (666)
Disposal and write-off HEREH = (13) = (215) = (228)
Charge for the year REEXH 836 750 126 266 1 1979
At31March 2019 and 1April 2019 R-ZE-AF=A=+t—HK
“Z-NFMA-A 2,349 813 953 1,008 1 5,124
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (479) (153) (868) (355) = (1,855)
Disposal and write-off HE R (1,070) = 9 (658) 3) (1,740)
Charge for the year AFELWL 1,949 50 98 394 2,127 4,618
At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=ZA=1+-H 2,749 710 174 389 2,125 6,147
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=ZA=1+-H 1,805 10 105 808 15,817 18,545
At 31 March 2019 R-ZF-NE=A=1+-H 3,754 72 351 10 1,940 6,227

The Group leases its construction equipment to third parties
under operating leases with rental calculated on a daily basis.
The leases do not include any purchase option. Rental income
from leasing of construction equipment is set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The construction equipment is subject to residual value
risk. The lease contract, as a result, includes a provision on
residual value guarantee based on which the Group has the
right to charge the tenant for any damage to the construction
equipment at the end of the lease. Besides, the Group required
the tenant to purchase insurance to protect it against any
loss that may arise from accidents or physical damages of the
equipment.

AEENGEHEHAERERBTE=
T HEEERNAEGE -HETERENE
BEEE nHEEREEHSRAZHED
IR e A P IEMRM LT -

BRERBEERIFGEERR ALt HES
HEEERREERRE B A%
EAENEEERT REERBZEME
BABRFPRE WM AKEERRKEFE
BERE REEFAERBIIMEZEE
BEMmSIEMIRK -
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 19. BEWE
2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Fair value: ~EE:

At 1 April R A—H 28,200 25,000

Change in fair value recognised in REEERZ AT EE
profit or loss (2,600) 3,200
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 25,600 28,200

The fair value of the Group's investment property located
in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2020 has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited (“PVA"), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group. PVA is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation
was arrived at using prevailing market rents for comparable
properties in the same location and condition, expected future
market rents and appropriate discount rates.

The investment property is measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value categorised as Level 2 based on the
degree to which the inputs to fair value measurement are
observable. There were no transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy during the year.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

19. REWE (&)
TEBIIBEER-_E-_EF=/=+—8
TIRBWE Y AFEZER (EERHER

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the investment property as at 31 March 2020 is determined

(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used): 2B ERM REE)
Fair value
as at
Fair value 31 March
hierarchy 2020 Valuation technique and key inputs
R-ZB-ZHF
=ZA=+-—H
ANEEER ZAYE FERWMREEZEHE
HK$'000
FHET
Investment property Level 2 25,600 Investment method of valuation
(2019: - Prevailing market rents for comparable properties
28,200) in the same location and condition, expected
future market rents and appropriate discount rates.
BB FEH 25,600 &EMKEE
(Z2—NF: — A—#wHMKATIEYENEETISES B

28,200) FFRRMBHEE NEENITIRE -

Leasing arrangement — as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the investment property
of HK$25,600,000 (2019: HK$28,200,000) are held under head
leases with the remaining lease term of 27 years (2019: 28
years). The lease contracts do not impose any covenants on the
Group.

The property interests in leasehold land and the buildings
thereon (including the whole or part of undivided share in
the underlying land) in Hong Kong of HK$25,600,000 (2019:
HK$28,200,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner.
Those property interests were acquired from the previous
registered owners by making lump sum payments at the
upfront (which may be financed by a mortgage). Except
for the variable amounts to be charged by the government
subsequently that are reviewed regularly with reference to the
rateable values, for example, there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease.

HEZHE-EAERBEA

R & 8RR 0 25,600,000 7T ( —ZZ— h
4 128,200,000/ 70 ) B9 I E W E THIRIE +
MEHE S TIHBAF (- NF:
28%F) - FEA KW EE AL B eI E T2
FOK

AEEREBEREMBEEABENHEE
T RE FMETF (BERRE A2 I
B 9 &l 19 B8 B 9 3 225,600,000
T (ZZF— 14 : 28,200,000/ 7T) - LW
¥EREDEREL —SRBMAFIE (BB
RBREF) A E—&aMEE AREAE-
ERReTH2ERF=MAEMNER
WER A B3R - B s - RIET A E K
REFERBENK-

R S
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 19. REWZE ()

Leasing arrangement - as lessor

The investment property is leased to tenants for a term ranged
from one to two years, in which the first year is non-cancellable
and the second year is cancellable with a notice period of 2
months by the tenant. The lease does not contain any renewal
option. Monthly rental charges consist of fixed payments. The
landlord bears the management fees and amounts charged by
the government such as the rates levied on the Group.

The details of the lease income from operating leases are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The investment property is subject to residual value risk. The
lease contract, as a result, includes a provision on residual
value guarantee based on which the Group has the right to
charge the tenant for any damage to the investment properties
at the end of the lease. Besides, the Group has purchased
insurance to protect it against any loss that may arise from
accidents or physical damages of the properties.

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$782,000 (2019: HK$723,000). The property
held for rental purposes is expected to generate rental yields of
3.05% (2019: 2.56%) on an ongoing basis. The property held has
committed tenants for the next year.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to
be received from the leasing of investment property.

At 31 March 2020

HEZHF-FERHHEA
KREMEENT1EZ2F 2 BHHETER
HEP—HEEREF ARG BPAR
E_FREABMNARE -HETES
EREEEEZ-SAHRSRBEEMNR %
TRAREEHRE MBTWERR IR - flans
ARE BB Z i o

LEHENHERAFBIRGE WBR
RMFEEY

KREMEFAIRHEER R AL BES
HEE—ERREERFREX B A%
EAEENEEARSHREYE 2 A
BREFRE I AEECBEERR

REEMAEEBINIMEZEEREM
SIEMBK-

RNEEWERSWAFTE L E782,000% 7T
—E— N 7230008 T) cFHIEHEA

% R ) 2 78 B R 2 3R R R 35 103.05%
ZE-NF:256%)HIKTF ARB 2Y

E¥RRFEBREERMA

AT ABREAERE M ERIZ RAEEE
BRI E DA o

R=B-®F=A=t-§

HK$'000

FERT

Year 1 F—F 310
Undiscounted lease payments to be received #UER 2 R BE IR & K 310
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

19.

20.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continuec)
Leasing arrangement - as lessor (Continued)

19. REWE (&)
HERE-EAREBA(E)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had contracted with tenants R-ZE—NE=ZA=1+—H AE£ED EX

for the following future minimum lease payments to be
received from the leasing of investment property:

AR B HERE Y E BRI KRR RE
BENKETLALHWT

2019
—ZE-NF
HK$'000
FHET
Within one year —F A 351
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_ZERF (ERMFBEERN) 17
368
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EREEE
oOffice
premises Warehouse Total
UNELYE S BE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THERT TERT
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-T-TF=-A=+—H
HFE
Depreciation nE 3,849 3,297 7,146
As at 31 March 2020 RZZEZTF=F=+—H
Carrying amount REE 6,157 13,738 19,895

The Group leases various office premises and warehouse for
its daily operations. Lease term for office premises is 3 years
with no option to renew the lease. Lease term for warehouse
is 6 years, which contains an option for both lessor and
lessee to renew or terminate the lease after expiration of the
lease term with three months’ notice. The extension option
is normally exercised because there are significant leasehold
improvements while the termination option is normally not
exercised. The Group seldom exercises options that were not
included in the lease liabilities.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval
is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use assets can only
be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying premises. In addition, the Group is
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the
lease.

AEEREAREEHERRRAENE
NEE -MAEWMEEMR=F WEIEE
MEEER 2EBEYANTE  BBEA KA
BMABEEAEEEREREREMN=@A
BABASKEEY R IPREE—RTE
I ARPREAMEEMEEKE A
BERER-RETE -AKEALETEDR
BREREEAETEEE-

PR 2R 32

REDEAIRBRE - BRIFEFHEANR
e BREREEEEEmAEEER B
REENGHEIEMERBYE - 15N K
SEABFMERIFNEERE YREE
R R ENRMNE -
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)

21.

Residual value guarantees
The Group does not provide residual value guarantees for the
lease contracts of office premises and warehouse.

Operating lease commitments

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in relation to office premises and warehouse, falling due
as follows:

20. FHEEE &)

FREEER
AEBUEAPAEMEREEHESR
RERREERER-

REBEHARE
RZB-hF=A=+—8 TEEAHH
RZBAAIHENHEBZMRAIEME

RRERERAES N REREN - 25
BT

HK$'000
FHT
Within one year —F R 8,517
In the second to fifth years inclusive TE_ZFAF (FEMEBEELR) 10,774
19,291
GOODWILL 1. BE
2020 2019
—2-%F —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost: PR :
As at 1 April KU A—H 2,721 854
Acquisition of a subsidiary I i — W B A A - 1,867
As at 31 March R=A=+—A” 2,721 2,721
Accumulated impairment losses: RiREEE:
As at 1 April ®EA—H - -
Impairment loss recognised BRI E 854 =
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H 854 -
Carrying amount: BREE -
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H 1,867 2,721

Goodwill arose because the consideration paid for the
acquisitions effectively included amount in relation to the
benefits originated from future market development and the
assembled workforce of the acquired business. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.
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Year ended 31 March 2020  #

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. P-i'—i 2
Goodwill acquired through business combination has been BEBEHFRBC.AESEEIEES
allocated to Financial services business segment CGU and mﬂﬂ&ﬁ‘%%i‘%“ HReEEEMREERT
Fitting out and engineering services business segment CGU EIRBEBHEREEESBL (D EEREF
(see note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for details BHEHRERE M BERERMES) AR ESE
of segment information). An analysis of goodwill attributable to BAENEE 2T
the relevant CGUs is as follows:
Fitting out and
Financial engineering
services services
business business
segment CGU  segment CGU Total
SRRBEY BERIERY
SRS $BsHRe
EEEN EEEN @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FET FHBL
Carrying amount at 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FENA—HKEEE 854 - 854
Goodwill arising from acquisition of WENBARELANEE
subsidiary - 1,867 1,867
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 and “E-NEF=ZAZt+-HEK
1 April 2019 —NERA—BMERARE 854 1,867 2,721
Impairment loss recognised ERRRE (854) - (854)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 RZZE-_ZEF=A=1+—HA
REE = 1,867 1,867

The Group has appointed an independent qualified professional
valuer, PVA, to perform annual impairment tests for goodwill
allocated to Financial services business segment CGU and
Fitting out and engineering services business segment CGU by
comparing their recoverable amounts to their carrying amounts
as at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based
on the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal by
reference to market comparables and the value in use which
requires estimates of the future cash flow of the CGU and the
use of assumptions (including revenue growth rate, long term
growth rate and discount rate).

$’§IE§% 2EU B ERERERR

ﬁ%aﬂfﬂ*ﬁﬁi ALBA T 2B REE
i‘"“* KERTERGEBDHFREE
EBEU BN RO REERRE R
ZEREE BRBETFRERENR

ReEABUNARESBENRESZN
SALL R E A FEERLERANTER
RS ELBUMARRRERA LR
(BRASRBAFOBALERE  REE
REMBBXR)HELNEREENRSE

SE NS CF-TEEHE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL (continuea) 21. BE (#)

The recoverable amounts of Fitting out and engineering
services business segment CGU and Financial services
business segment CGU have been determined on the basis of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal respectively.
There was no change in the basis on the determination of the
recoverable amounts as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The value in use calculation for Fitting out and engineering
services business segment CGU uses cash flow projection
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a 5-year period, applying the following key assumptions:

HERIRBREEBDHRSEEELMM
CRIRBEB D PRSEEL B UE
SEDDANERFERAEENA T EABRD
ERAMBEE R_Z—NER_ZT_FF
ZA=t+—RAzAkbOeEMETEERY
o

RERTIERBERIBASELENZ
EREEENEREIENMBOREETT
PRERFZRE R - BRIATERR

i
0

Fitting out and
engineering services
business segment CGU

HERIRREEK D
REEELBN
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Pre-tax discount rate BRI IR & 13.09% 12.63%
Average growth rate g R= 33% 11%
Perpetual growth rate KA KRR 3% 3%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects the specific risks
relating to the relevant business. The perpetual growth rate
is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate of the relevant
industry.

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation are
budgeted growth rate, which are determined based on the past
performance and the management’s expectation of the market
development, future performance of the CGU and market
growth forecast.
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21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE (&)

Management is of the opinion that any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of Financial services business
segment CGU have been determined based on fair value less
costs of disposal using the market approach.

The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value of
Financial services business segment CGU under the market
approach include the comparable transactions of companies
during the past 3.5 years, which the comparable companies
hold either, or a combination of, the SFC Type 1, Type 4 or Type
9 licences. The valuation was categorised as Level 3 fair value
measurement.

The recoverable amount of Financial services business
segment CGU based on the fair value less costs of disposal
was approximately HK$15,943,000 (2019: HK$23,084,000).
Accordingly, having compared with the carrying amount
of Financial services business segment CGU (including the
carrying amount of the SFO Licences as mentioned in note
22 to the consolidated financial statements), impairment of
approximately HK$854,000 (2019: Nil) was provided on goodwill
associated with Financial services business segment CGU as at
31 March 2020.

ERERRERBRONEMNAIEAEED
CEEHRSELENMNRAEBBER
Yo & 8 .

BRI TS 0 B & E A B A R[]
SRDERBMISEMBHAFEER L
ERAR o

MEETEESRREEB D MR LERN
BRRREIEBEISFRAANEN AR
X5 RAHBRARFAELGARKERT R
HIEIRPISE 148 - SBARNEIRRIER - (H{EK
DERE=ZBAFETE-

RAFEREEXNATENSRRIEES S
BOIR & BE A B AL A AT UKl & BB 4V 15,943,000
It (ZZ — JL4 123,084,000 7T) - A
I REBREEF DD EAE (B
AR E BTSRRI FE22 AT i 75 55 B B B 16451
MR BRTEE) BRESRRSESE D BIE
SESBNIEEN-_E-_EF=-A=1+—
B 5+ 4% 8 (B #9854,0008 7T ( — T — I 4F:
') o

—E-NE A E-TEEHE

173



ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

174

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk 1 BB e B
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS . BREEE
Cross-
boundary
SFO vehicle
licences licence Total
b
B AR ES B 1 AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FHT
Cost; BN
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and R-_Z—AF=A=+—8"
31 March 2020 “E-NFNA—HEK
—ZE-TF=R=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment losses: RETBERE:
At 1 April 2018 R-ZE—NFMA—H - - -
Impairment loss recognised BEERBE - 62 62
At 31 March 2019 RZZFE—hF=ZA=+—H = 62 62
Impairment loss recognised BEERBE 5,055 348 5,403
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_TF=A=+—H 5,055 410 5,465
Carrying amount: BREE -
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZE-_EF=A=+—H 13,683 1,466 15,149
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE—hFE=ZA=+—H 18,738 1,814 20,552

The intangible assets represent (i) the licences (the “SFO
Licences”) to carry on Type 1 (Dealing in securities), Type
4 (Advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset management)
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and (i) the cross-
boundary vehicle licence.
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Year ended 31 March 2020  #

22.

P CE_FTFE=/F=F—HIFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

SFO Licences

The SFO Licences represent intangible assets acquired as
a result of a business combination during the year ended
31 March 2018. The SFO Licences have been considered to
have indefinite useful lives because they are expected to
contribute to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and
are not amortised. The Group has not commenced relevant
operations during the year. The carrying amount of the SFO
Licences has been included in the carrying amount of Financial
services business segment CGU as mentioned in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements for impairment assessment.

As mentioned in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the recoverable amount of Financial services
business segment CGU based on the fair value less costs
of disposal was lower than the carrying amount of Financial
services business segment CGU, impairment of approximately
HK$5,055,000 (2019: Nil) has been provided on the SFO
Licences as at 31 March 2020 accordingly.

The cross-boundary vehicle licence

Cross-boundary vehicle licence was acquired as a result of a
business combination during the year ended 31 March 2018. It
was estimated as having indefinite useful life and is measured
using the cost model. The cross-boundary vehicle licence
has been considered to have indefinite useful life because it
is expected to contribute to the net cash flows of the Group
indefinitely, and is not amortised.

The Group has appointed an independent qualified professional
valuer, PVA, to perform an appraisal of the recoverable amount
of the cross-boundary vehicle licence as at 31 March 2020. The
recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle licence has
been determined on the basis of value in use calculation. The
value in use calculation uses cash flow projections covering
a period of five years based on financial budgets approved
by management by applying the average growth rate of 2.5%
(2019: 2.5%) in market rental, the long-term average growth
rate of 2.5% (2019: 2.5%) in market rental and a discount rate
of 14.29% (2019: 11.1%). Cash inflows/outflows have been
determined based on management’s expectations for the
market development.

The recoverable amount of the cross-boundary vehicle
licence based on value in use calculation was approximately
HK$1,466,000 (2019: HK$1,814,000). Accordingly, having
compared with the carrying amount of the cross-boundary
licence, impairment of approximately HK$410,000 (2019:
HK$62,000) has been provided on the cross-boundary vehicle
licence as at 31 March 2020.

22.

BVEE &)

& 5 R R e R
EFLHRERIEERBE_T—/\F=
A=+ —BLEENEBKAHMEUG - ZE
EBHRLEEDERIAEEEMAFRE
AABHMEERMERMASEFRSR &
TEREH - NEBRF AR A RBEBRZE
o MR A B MR 21 - BH R
HEEMERNRAED AASBIRTGE
BoatReELBMMERmE-

WANERA B SRR FE21 Pl £ AR %
BOEREEABMREBEATERBEK
KBz AR B S BENEERRE F5Kk
HA B {611 b2 BR R (B ZE 1§ © B8 %Y 45,055,000
BL(ZE—NF &)

RIBEE SR
TEERERBE_T-\F=ZA=1—
B IEFEREREE G ATEUS - AR B HEE

ERFREAKNENGE - ZEFEER
ERERECRAFREAR/BENEERB
BRAKEFRSR R TEREE-

AEBCRE—ABUSEREEGERM
ERTHBERAREPEERERNR T
—EFEZA=t+— BNk E S EETT
fly o B ER SR AR R A A UK 21 - 5B T B A E
BEFEMEE -FERAEEFEEAERE
BEENENMREEETHRERAF R
SRIEE BHISAE AT EE25%
(ZE—NF:25%) Mz EHEER
25% (ZZE—N%F: 25%)&%%?1429%
(ZE—NAE:111%) BEHEATTE T
ENBAERBEKEEEYMSGERNTEH
EEE -

BEFREBHENPBERER 2
Ui (3] 4 %8 491,466,000 7T ( — T — A4

1,814,000/ 7T ) © At » Hb AR S B R AR
ZERAE PEEMERREEESENA
410,000/ 7T ( ZZF — L : 62,0008 7T ) °
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23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 23. ERERKEFE
2020 2019
—E-EfF ZT—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FET FAT
Loan receivables FERE 6,300 6,000
Interest receivables FEUFI B 26 146
Less: Allowance for ECL B TBHEEEERE 6(b) (190) (184)
6,136 5,962
The Group's loan and interest receivables, which arise from AEBERKERRMNEREREBIRME
the money lending business in Hong Kong, are denominated in EWEB  WABTHE BERERASER
HKS$. Loan receivables are unsecured, interest-bearing at a rate - G F 2R A 12%0 72 B 15 75 3% 7E A9 (&l 5E B
of 12% per annum and repayable with fixed terms of 1 year R—FAEE - REWE B AMEEN &K
agreed with the borrowers. The maximum exposure to credit ZERK - A XAl EWFERREE -
risk at each of the reporting dates is the carrying amount of the
receivables mentioned above.
Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks and loss EEAASEMAZEERBIARERER
allowance for loan and interest receivables is included in note LA BIEBEEBEHNGE B REM
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. FT6(D) °
24. INVENTORIES 24. &
2020 2019
—EZEF —ET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT
Fine and rare wines held for sale, at cost  #{EH & 3EH » AR ARSI BR 827 975
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EZ R HMEWFEIE
2020 2019
—ECEE —T—hHF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ihg=2 FHT FH&TT
Trade receivables g 5 EWE
From third parties "E=ZH 16,519 12,952
Less: Loss allowance B B 6(b) (4,623) (4,329)
11,896 8,623
Other receivables Hth W FRE
Deposits, prepayments and e FBNRER
advances to suppliers BEEYEESS 2,349 10,498
Others Hh 552 91
2,901 10,589
14,797 19,212

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 30
to 60 days (2019: 30 to 180 days) to its trade customers. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of loss
allowance based on the invoice date as at the end of the

AEBERHEEZEFPRHAIB0E60R (=
T— 4% 301800 ) NEZ FIEEH -
UTARREHRZERAHZIIZES
FEUCRIAE HIRE 2 RYERB RRE 2

reporting period. BRER DT ©
2020 2019
—E-EE —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 6,356 8,623
91 to 180 days 91H Z=180H LAA 4,300 -
181 days to 270 days 181H 22708 AR 293 =
271 days to 365 days 271B&E365H AR 947 -
11,896 8,623

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and 10ss
allowance for trade and other receivables is included in note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ERARKEMAREERBARESRHE
W FRTR A ERERRNEA MR

RIED) -

—E-NE A E-TEEHE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuea)  25. B 5 B H fth & WU IE (4%)

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are AT E®EFHERE 5 K& H b FE WK IE 7 BR
denominated in the following currencies: HERAT:
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAET
HKS &I 14,763 19,166
RMB AR 3 15
SGD ang T 31 31
14,797 19,212
26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. EHNEERERE
LIABILITIES
26(a) Contract assets 26(a) EHNEE
2020 2019
—E-ZF —T—hEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FExT FHET
Unbilled revenue in respect of REERERTRRBEN
provision of fitting out and R RERBEHRE
engineering services and M—BEEMRBHR
provision of design and FAZERKE
procurement of furnishings
and related products services 522 5,170
Less: Loss allowance W EERE 6(b) (65) -
457 5,170
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights EHEEXTEENAEBRZERHRE
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at HARE TR ERE HRE TIRNRE
the end of the reporting period. The contract assets are BN - G NEERNBAENKRE
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become IRHEREAE S B FRIE -
unconditional.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. EHRNEERARE (#)
LIABILITIES (continuec)

26(a) Contract assets (Continuead) 26(a) BHEE (£&)

Retention receivables are included in contract assets
until the end of the retention period as the Group's
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the

U FREERERNWEETEER
BHER ARAKEZRNRAE
MEARAKEN T RS SEME

Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection. IR o

AEERFEARNREHRD  #
Tk B R L s ) 2 B

There is a decrease in the ongoing contracts at the end
of the reporting period, thereby decreasing the amount
arising from the recognition of revenue.

RZZ_TFEZA=+—18 BEL
HEETEHBEIEABKR (=F
— L4 : 100,000/ 7T ) °

As at 31 March 2020, no contract assets that are
expected to be recovered after more than 12 months
(2019: HK$100,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2020, an impairment loss HE-_Z-_ZEF=A=+—HL#F
of HK$65,000 (2019: Nil) is recognised for the contract B #®RE K EEREEIE%65,000
assets. BT (ZE—h&E &)

FRBEEVHREERE1557A
TEFENZANEEZS (T
RE—FEELEZIZF)NT

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract assets from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2020 2019

g 323 —T—hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FHET

At 1 April RMA—H 5,170 2,007
Transferred to trade receivables BEEEHEINFHIA (5,070) (2,007)
Loss allowance Eia A (65) =
Recognised as revenue TR AW 422 5,170
At 31 March R=A=+—H 457 5,170

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks EHAAEBAZEERBURELN
and loss allowance for contract assets is included in note é?ﬁﬁmm EEEEN GRS B #RE
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements. B sE6(b)
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 26. EHREERARE®)
LIABILITIES (continuea)

26(b) Contract liabilities 26h)EHERE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB Tisn

RERERTERBMEHRRS
REFRBEREREBERRS

Provision of fitting out and
engineering services and
provision of design and
procurement of furnishings and
related products services 601 109

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance AHABETEHEWEFHRERK
consideration received from customers, for which B B TR R IR (AR RE AR
revenue is recognised based on the progress of the BYHE S TR o

provision of related services.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
the contract liabilities from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

FRBEEVBREERE155RIA
TEFARHNZENEERY (TEE
RE—FEEEZIZFMT

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 April R A—H 109 166
Recognised as revenue R AR (109) (166)
Receipt of advances L ER A 3R 601 109
At 31 March R=A=+—H 601 109

For the year ended 31 March 2020, more contracts
require larger prepayments from the customers, thereby
increasing the amount arising from the receipt of
advances.

At 31 March 2020, no contract liabilities are expected to
be settled after more than 12 months (2019: Nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continued)

26(h) Contract liabilities (Continued)
The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting
date to its fitting out and engineering services income,
design and procurement of furnishings and related
product services income, installation services income
from leasing of construction equipment and sale of fine
and rare wines as the performance obligation is part of
a contract that has an original expected duration of one
year or less.

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with maturity within three months
from inception. Bank balances carried interest at market rates
ranging from 0.01% to 0.3% (2019: 0.01% to 0.1%) per annum
during the year ended 31 March 2020. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default. The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are
denominated in the following currencies:

26. ERNEEREE (#)

26b)EHEE (&)

AEBERATEY B REERIZE5
BMEINRTERNEE 2T AR
REAMBEERBITRETRAON
— &0 (REBHASOHMBR S —F I
T MERESRERRERBEEFE
FrRIMAHMEERTRZRBEA -
R AT R R BB R B R AR RA EE an AR 75 IR
A HERERBLTERBFIRARE
BB RN -

27. BeRIBITEE

RITHEBRBSERAAEEREZRS
N EamasT=@EA ABIH 2 EERITER -
BITHEBRTIINEE S -_TF=-A=1+—
B IEEE IR IS EF N 7R0.01%E0.3%
(ZZ—AF:001%=0.1%) i+ & - R1T4
BIOERREEEAMYEERTHEY
RIT-MITEB LIRS 2 BEEN TS
HI{E :

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FHET

HK$ BT 10,112 22,592
RVB AR 360 469
us$ ETT 77 2,310
SGD s T 149 1,638
10,698 27,009

The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to relevant rules and regulations of the foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

5 A WS 68 % 3 HR B OIS I 5 1 S N R
TS RASELTE BB THEBRAM
SN E ) R 1 2 AR B AR Rl BOE AR ©
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ESRHMEMNKIE
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-hnF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables B S EARE 4,345 3,379
Other payables H R E
Receipt in advance A FRIA 178 206
Accrued expenses and other payables &5t R s K H 4th f& ~f ZUA 3,181 4,504
3,359 4,710
7,704 8,089
Less: non-current portion B IEm B EB D
— other payables —H A fE S FRIE = (470)
Current portion mBEk D 7,704 7,619
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on LTARREBRIZEZAH - BHEMAK
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HZ BRER DT
2020 2019
—EC-EF —ZE-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHT
Within 30 days 30BN 845 2,557
Over 90 days B iB90H 3,500 822
4,345 3,379
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28.

29.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days
(2019: 30 days). The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within
the credit timeframe. The carrying amounts of trade and other
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

28.

EZRHEMENSRIE 2
BASSZ FHEEHADE (ZE—A
F:308) AEEEAZLRARTER
% RTER A e FUEE R E B R NS
B T EMHHENE 5 REMENZEN
BEEEMT -

2020 2019
—EB-EF —T—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HKS BT 7,648 7,781
RMB AR 56 308
7,704 8,089

LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEEE
2020 2019
—E-EfF —T—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current portion meE 6,827 -
Non-current portion EmBEL D 13,566 =
20,393 -
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 29. HEEE#)
2020 2019
—E-EfF ZT—NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FHET
Lease payments: HENR:

Short-term leases REHE 1,063 -
Operating lease payments EEHENR - 6,943
Expenses recognised in profit or loss 718z MR H I 2 1,063 6,943
Lease payments: HENR:

Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFE 1 1,207 =

Repayment of lease liabilities BEgHEaE 6,643 =

7,850 =
Total cash outflow for leases HERBF KD 8,913 6,943
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. EEBLIE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

EEBIREERNFANEEBNT

Fair value

Accelerated adjustment

tax on intangible
depreciation assets Total

B EE
DEB T E ALERR @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FAT TAET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FNA—H 225 3,092 3317
Charged to profit or loss Mgz 135 - 135

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-_E-h&E=ZA=+—H%

“E-NFNA—H 360 3,092 3,452
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR (63) - (63)
Credited to profit or loss FTABR - (835) (835)
At 31 March 2020 RZZZTHE=A=+—H 297 2,257 2,554

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$113,627,000 (2019:
HK$116,325,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. These tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC tax law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends distributed to foreign investors by the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
accumulated after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. As at 31 March 2020
and 2019, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
the Groups’ subsidiaries established in the PRC as there is no
retained earning recorded by those subsidiaries.

R HAR - 2N [ A B A A K 85 R 2R F)
Z A ARIBEELA113,627,0008 7T (=
T — N4 £ 116,325,000/ 7T ) ° B & 2K
FUZEDATER - WS RE AR IBEEERE
EFRIEEE - WL ST IAE 18 n] SR HAsSeE -

RIEPEPEAMEEE  RPBKILZ NG
BECEMIIEREEDRZKRE AR
0% R GURTEINR - ZHTEBE TS NF
—A—BERARVEAR-ZSZTLF+=
A=+—H®ZZF&F - i+H R EI K
BEMERAEEE S BB HE  RIATR
ARBEZEIRE - R_ZE-_TFR_-F
—NFE=ZA=1T—0 BERFIEEEFEH
PRIz BB ARl 2 RIEFREF 2 EATEH
PEREERIE  ARZEN B AR W EER
BIRBEF -
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B&
Number of shares Share capital
BRAOEE B
2020 2019 2020 2019
kSt 33 ZE-0E it 3.3 “E-NF
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR i TEL FEL
Issued and fully paid BOTHR

At 1 April REA—H 435,600 363,000 168,887 154,851

Issue of new shares upon placing, REHR MR FRHHA
net of transaction costs (note) (Fir3) 87,000 72,600 6,708 14,03
At 31 March R=A=1+-H 522,600 435,600 175,595 168,887
Note:  On 1 November 2018, the Group and a placing agent entered into e R —-NGF+—A—H AEEHEER

BRIVAEE R Bt AREEREBREER
BRESATLRANBELARARSRE

a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Group appointed the
placing agent to procure altogether not less than six independent

placees for placing up to an aggregate of 72,600,000 placing shares
at a placing price of HK$0.20 per placing share (the “2018 Placing”).
The closing price per share on that date was HK$0.21. Details of the
2018 Placing were set out in announcements of the Company dated
1 November 2018 and 26 November 2018. The net proceeds of the
2018 Placing of approximately HK$13.8 million as per the Company's
announcement dated 26 November 2018 was intended to be used for
the purchase of construction equipment for leasing purpose. These
new shares were issued on 26 November 2018.

On 12 November 2019, the Group and a placing agent entered into a
placing agreement, pursuant to which the Group has appointed the
placing agent to procure altogether not less than six independent
placees for placing up to an aggregate of 87,000,000 placing shares at
a placing price of HK$0.08 per placing share (the “2019 Placing”). The
closing price on that date was HK$0.083. Details of the 2019 Placing
were set out in announcements of the Company dated 12 November
2019 and 29 November 2019. The net proceeds of the 2019 Placing of
approximately HK$6.5 million as per the Company’s announcement
dated 29 November 2019 was intended to be used for the purchase
of construction equipment for leasing purpose. These new shares
were issued on 29 November 2019.

&R 10.208 TTALE & H & 272,600,000 A2
ERH ([2018REFR]) - ERUTERT
BR0.218 7T - Z2018BLE HR Z FH BHN AL
ARMA—Z-N\F+-A—BR=ZE-N
F+—AZ+REBZAEA-RARRBEH
RIZE-—NF+—AZ+RBZASHM-
20180C & FIEFT 1S FRIRFFEAI 13,800,000/ 7T
RANBERERBIFHEZA ZEFR
PRZFE-N\F+—A=tXBHT-

RZZ—NF+—A+=8 AEEERER
BRIV ERE Bt AEEERERER
B{RFEE ETDRINE B AR AR FARED
& I&50.087% To AL & & £ 5 %:87,000,000/% At
ERH (12019 EFE]) - ERBTERS
fi%0.0837 7T © 5%2019F & FIE 2 FIFH A A
AEIHBPAZTE-NF+—A+ZBEK=Z
—hWE+—AZ+hBZRAER-RERQR]
B A-—Z—hF+—AZ+thBZa%Mm
it + 201988 & £ I8 115 308 % 58 496,500,000
BTRANBERERFEEEZR %5
FBROHR=_ZE—NFE+—A=+hBA%ET

ERBTHRE L ERNE S BREY
e e Eo

All the ordinary shares issued during the year rank pari passu
with the then existing shares in all respects.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. BRETE

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant options
to any participant (the “Eligible Participant”) as incentives or
rewards for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby the Board are
authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
for the shares of the Company to the Eligible Participant, The
Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of shares (the “Shares”)
of the Company available for issue under the Scheme is
30,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit") of the aggregate number of Shares in
issue immediately upon completion of the listing of the Shares
on 18 July 2014 and representing 5.74% of the issued Shares as
at 31 March 2020.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Option”), the
Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the
Option is granted. The subscription price for the Shares subject
to Options will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options, which
must be a day on which trading of Shares take place on the
Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day"); and (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the Options.

BREEEARF A AEF2EE ([6
Bff28E])ELBRE (FROEMEER
SEMERRZ BB EH - ARBR-F
—OFERNA=T BB FRA R RERERT
g (MEhkEstal)) Bt EFeRERR
P BERBERER  KRBRET S
FERAAERSEERDBBARB RN
Z B - BT BN R E B
R EME-EARRER

W-Z-ZTE=A=+—8" BiFExt
AT ARBRD ([’ BE A
30,000,0000% ' G —ZE—MWE+ /+/\H
B £ ST Ak R 2 B B TTRR D 48 55 2 10%
([rEIEERBDRR-_Z=_FTF=A
=+—BHEETRND 2574% °

BN IRIBRZ A BIPAHR P SRIB A () 2 BB AR
R ([BRE]R SER2BEARARRR
A 1.008 T EREREREZRE-
BRI ZEMB AR L BREE R EF21
B - BhEZBRHRBEERHESSE
B rHes2RE BRIGERTIIE
HeimE: (WREBREZR (BEAR
BRORBZMEE 2 BF ([RHH]) B
g RRERME 2 RHEHE: RINE
EREBREEALERS BB AE
BRERMPTE 2B PR TE-

SEFNF S CFCEFERE
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32.

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
does not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company
may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the shareholders’
approval and the issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM
Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of
the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at
the time. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date
of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share
option has been granted by the Company.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 30 August 2019, the Group entered into a disposal
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which,
the Group (i) disposed of its 100% equity interest in Wonder
Express Development Limited and its subsidiaries (“Wonder
Express Group”); and (ii) assigned a shareholder’s loan of
approximately HK$26,287,000 in full owing from Wonder
Express Group to the Group for a cash consideration of
HK$450,000.
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DB TEBIBE I E BITIR 230% -
BRI SR N EERE T 2 8
RS POBE AT 15 - SZ AR TR/ AR 1 15 1 B e
BEARET+F  WATRERIEEXFE
R

B BB AT B RAN AR - R R ER D
FERE-

HEMHMB AR 2 W
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BBUE =R ML EHE B A&
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33. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. HEMBARZWES (&)
(Continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Wonder Express HEZF— N4\ A =-+HWonder Express
Group as at 30 August 2019 were as follows: CrouptEE R BEMEEHAM T
HK$'000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment Y - W2 R AE 258
Right-of-use assets EREEE 341
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H b e FRIA 448
Cash and bank balances e RIRITEEER 143
Trade and other payables B 5 M HEH A ER FRIA (367)
Lease liabilities HEBE 313
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE ©3)
Amount due to the Group B AERE 2 5/8 (26,287)
(25,840)
Assignment of amount due to the Group ERENAER 2R 26,287
447
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z WS 3
Consideration satisfied by cash IR & mEMRE 450
Net cash inflow arising on the disposal is as follows: HEEEZRSRAFEAT
Consideration settled in cash NIRESFHEHRE 450
Cash and bank balances disposed of Rt &R & RIRTT4E (143)
307
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

4. HEEHELEZEEEH

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
2019 —E-hEF
Obligation
under finance  Secured bank
lease borrowings Total
MERERE HFEARTEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET THET
At 1 April 2018 RZZ—-N\EFMHA—H 90 6,689 6,779
Repayment BR (90) (6,689) 6,779)
At 31 March 2019 —E-AF=ZA=+—H - - -
2020 —EC-EH
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$'000
FERT
At 1 April 2019 - Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 RZZE-NFNA—B-RASENL
WEERIFE 1657 27,349
Repayment of lease liabilities and related interests BEHEEABEMEENS (7,850)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR (313)
Interest expenses B 1,207
At 31 March 2020 RZEZETF=A=+—H 20,393
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 35. RIKBEFIFHE

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500
per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

Under the laws of Singapore, a subsidiary of the Company
makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the Central
Provident Fund (“CPF"). The subsidiary of the Company in
Singapore is required to contribute certain percentages
ranging from 5% to 20% of the monthly salaries of their current
employees to the CPF for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate
in contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$297,000 (2019: HK$402,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the
current reporting period.

ER AR E
AEBERMETERERERRE R
AR EFE ([@EEFTEl) - &atEl
BENASEEEDRRT  RERZFEA
ZHNEET - AREIREREHFERASZ5%
SR iE R A &K - =& 1,500 7T &
BRERSRIFLAABENK

REFIRERE KAFETHEB QR ME
KBRS EFRAES ([FRAES])
ERHEF - BE—E_BFER_T—Hh=A
=+—HIEFERN - AR REF IR B
NEBIEEBEEREMNAFES%E20%2
HETEAMPRABESERHER-

EHBEEECMBARAZEMERLT
BT & 2 SEHFRIRET B -

T AR M R297,0008 T (ZE— N E:
402,000/ 7T ) KO 48 B AN = AN 5 B 1E E AT $R
SEREH XA EWENKIR-

—E-NE A E-TEEHE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

(@) Licence to use a property granted to a

related company

The Company licenced a right to use an office property
at nil consideration under a licence agreement with a
related company of which an ex-director of the Company,
M. Liu Rongsheng is the director of the holding company
of that related company. Pursuant to the terms of the
licence agreement, the related company shall bear the
cost incurred for using the office property and both
parties can terminate the licence by immediate notice.
The licence agreement was terminated during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the

36. BELXRS
RIMR A M RE LM BHRE L XS
BHIN RRERAERNRIESEITT I
TRH:

(@ B-—XEBEEQRARHBEANE
24T
RiFE—-RBEERR (RNRBFE
EEIRELERZEERR ZER
NEZER)MAI LT
ARBRBEARR D EEER R
WMREYE - RIFZ AT 2 650
FERRRARERZMERELZ
B Al 89875 AT A BN B ANAR 1E
Fati - 2Rt RNEE ST =
ZEFE-A=+t—HILFEDKIL-

(b) FEEBAENME

EEEAREETEEEA NS

Group during the year was as follows: U
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits %4 - 3288 & H ith 15 7 6,605 8,846

Contributions to defined TERRERET 8 R

contribution plans 157 155
6,762 9,001

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. The remuneration of directors is set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  37. QX R#KARR &K

THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—E-EfF —T—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHT FHE T
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment YEE AR R AR 13 83
Right-of-Use assets EREEE 6,157 =
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZKE = 21,455
6,170 21,538
Current assets MEEE
Other receivables H e g SR8 1,083 2,340
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U FfT B X B) 5k I8 37(a) 93,921 96,229
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTA 792 110
95,796 98,679
Current liabilities mBEE
Other payables H b e 5RE 1,768 2,337
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,717 =
Amount due to subsidiaries AL EPNGIE S 37(a) 3,765 466
9,250 2,803
Net current assets FREEE 86,546 95,876
Total assets less current liabilities REERTBEE 92,716 117,414
Non-current liabilities JEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 2,598 =
NET ASSETS BESE 90,118 117,414
Equity =
Share capital & As 31 175,595 168,887
Reserves & 37(b) (85,477) (51,473)
TOTAL EQUITY B 90,118 117,414

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020

and signed on its behalf by:

ARRZHBERARENR T _ZFNA
—HARBETIHEERREFTSES NI

MR AT

Chan Chi Yuen Zhang Weijie
&R RER
Director Director
EE EZE

—E S F

— T
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (continuea)

37(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and

37. ARIMBRREK (#)

37(a) FEURFEASFI B 2 T FIB
SEREBLAEER 2ERKRERE

repayable on demand. e
37(b) Reserves of the Company 37(b) A Ff# &
Accumulated Other

losses reserve Total
RitER HitiE % Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTAT TET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\EMA—-A (45,152) 21,063 (24,089)

Loss and total comprehensive  AFEFEMN2EER
loss for the year (27,384) - (27,384)

At 31 March 2019 and R-E-AEZA=+—-HE

1 April 2019 —Z-NFMA—H (72,536) 21,063 (51,473)

Loss and total comprehensive ~ AFEFEMNZ2EEE
loss for the year (34,004) - (34,004)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZF=A=+—H (106,540) 21,063 (85,477)

Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary and
the consolidated net asset value of that subsidiary and its
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

38.

39.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EXRKIE

The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end REBERREHAREATEARRE:

of the reporting period:

2020 2019
—E2-FF ZENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Contracted but not provided for: BERTAVERIEL B -
— Acquisition of construction equipment — B8 & 541 1,865 11,152
— Development of construction —HAERERBEERR
equipment management system 125 125
1,990 11,277
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 39. {EHREE
The assessment of the impact of the Coronavirus —E-hEHFEHSZ ([COVID-19])
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") TENFTME
After the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, a series of —E-NEFERSE_ST_ZFFIF
precautionary and control measures have been and continued Big R —EMFBEERE—ZRYTE AT
to be implemented across the globe. The Group is paying close FIFE e - AN B IEE & Y] 78/ COVID-19/9 8
attention to the development of, and the disruption to business R LA I 9 55 1) U3 B2 S E T TN 4SS B RO B
and economic activities caused by, the COVID-19 outbreak and 2 AREHAEBEOP MR  RER
evaluate its impact on the financial position, cash flows and MEBEBENTE-

operating results of the Group.

ZENF S CECEFRRE
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. FEHBAF
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March ARBIZEEHNBARARN-_ZE-_ZTFR_
2020 and 2019 are as follows: E-NEFE=ZA=+—HFHBOT:
Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
RYSER,/ B4R
WEARER Tew%/HX  FERHEN BRE/ MR RAARENFERRREELA IEEH
Directly Indirectly
Ei k3
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIRF _T-NF ZBIBE T4
% % % %
BAL R Bl ER
China Sourcing & Creative The BVI Ordinary US$1 100 100 - - Sourcing fumiture and marble and
Construction Limited the provision of interior design
and decoration Service
FEFEIRRENBRAR EBERAHS il =T 100 100 = - FBREERMARARREZER
Rat REHRH
Hotel Sourcing International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
Hotel Sourcing International Limited &% R 100%7T - - 100 100 REERRTRESHRS
Well Creation Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
wEAEEERAA 3 gl 1T = = 100 100 REERRTRESHRS
Joy Excel Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
SHBHERAR 6 il 1T = = 100 100 REERERTRESHRS
Forever Smart (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
K (RE)BRAR £k R 1T = = 100 100 REERRTRESHRS
Hotel Sourcing Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore Ordinary SGD1 - - 100 100 Sourcing fumiture and marbles and
provision of interior design and
decoration services
Hotel Sourcing Singapore Pte. Ltd. g L TR - - 100 100 FEBEERMARARREZR
Rat REHRH
Kate China Property Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Property investment
Consultants Limited
FREENERNARAR Bk R 18T = = 100 00 WERE
Huarong Financial Holdings Limited The BVI Ordinary US$100 100 100 - - Investment holding
EReERRERAR EBERAHS L 100%7T 100 100 - - REAEBR
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 40. FENB AT (&)
Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
RIHER/ BuMR
WEARER Eend /A% FEROEN BE/HERRE RAARENFERRREELH IEED
Directly Indirectly
B 53
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIEE “T-NF ZBIRE “Z-NF
% % % %
Bl BOK B BAL
Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - - 100 100 Money lending
ERHBERAR & LR 1007 - = 100 0 WE
Wealthy Pool International The BVI Ordinary US$50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding
Holdings Limited
RERRERERAF RERAHES LR 50,000% 7T 100 100 - - RERR
Huge Wealth International Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - = 100 100 Business not yet commenced
Trading Limited
FEERESERAR & LR 10,0008 7T - = 100 10 REREHR
Qenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Wine merchandising
REEARAR & Ll 1T = - 100 100 EEEE
World Huge International The BVI Ordinary US§100 100 100 - - Investment holding
Investment Limited
tEERREARAR ERRAHE Ll 100%7T 100 100 - - REZR
0C Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$13,500,000 - - 100 100 Provision of financial services
(2019
HK$11,500,000)
0C Consultants Limited Y ke 13,500,000 7 - - 100 10 REteRRBE
(ZE-N%E:
11,500000% )
Royal Century Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holding
Group Limited
CERESBARAR & LR 1T 100 100 - - RERR
Royal Century Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Sourcing fumiture and provision of
interior design and decoration
Services
CEEREMRAT & Ll 1T = - 100 00 REGREREEEARGR
RS
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Year ended 31 March 2020 # 72 —F-ZFF=H=+—HILFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

40. TEMB AT (&)

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
RYREM,/ BTUHR
WEARER gews /AR FEROEN BRE/EMREX RAARENFERRREELE TEED
Directly Indirectly
B 5F3
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIEE CI-NF ZEBIRE CTNF
% % % %
ARl BAL ARl BAK
Royal Century Engineering Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
CEIEERAR 3 il 1T = = 100 100 REERERTRESHRS
Royal Century Construction Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Leasing of construction equipment
Equipment Limited
CERERBEERAT B i 1T = = 100 100 BERXERE
Viai Tak Building Works Hong Kong Ordinary HK$8,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of waterproofing works
Company Limited (2019: and maintenance services
HK$100,000)
BERITERAR i gl 8,000,000/ 7T - - 100 100 REMHKIEREERS
(ZZ-N%:
100,000 )
Royal Century (Shen Zhen) Design The PRC Paid-up Registered capital: - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
Firm Company Limited * capital RMB300,000,000/ decoration services
(Note) Paid up capital:
RMB2,555,504
(2019:
RMB1,994,931)
(A S ES it HE BRBRA HMER: - = 100 100 REERFRTRESHRS
ARAR (FiE) AR
300,000,0007¢/
BAMEK:
AR%
2,555,5047C
(Z2-n%:
AR
1994.9317T)

Note: The subsidiary is registered in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned
enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

*  For identification purpose only
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DETAILS OF PROPERTIES HELD
FHYEZ

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

REWH

Property Lot no./location Category of lease Use

L/ES Y it B A ER A
Workshop A, 5/F, 1/37th equal and undivided parts or ~ Medium Term Industrial/Commercial
Tontex Industrial Building, shares of and in New Kowloon Inland

2-4 Shenug Hei Street, Lot nos. 4449, 4450 and 4726

San Po Kong,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

BB IENHE 7 1LEE A HERAA49 ~ 4450 2 H HA T¥/m%
EEH2-AFREIERNE A7265% 2 3713 2 1P HHE K&

SHEAZENL ] 5 BB 19
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

bk 5 1B 2

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
B8 —T-NF ZE-N\F ZE—+tF ZE—RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THEL TEL THET TEL
Revenue s 42,755 28,150 33,097 54,524 101,048
(Loss)/profit before tax BB (B18),/ 57 (28,949) (19,939) (27,989) (35,022) (7,919)
(Loss)/profit for the year F5 (B8) /5H (28,114) (20,074) (28,093) (35,034) (9,370)
Total comprehensive FEE2E
(expenses)/income for the year (X)) /WA (28,128) (20,165) (27,804) (35,156) (9,325)
As at 31 March
R=ZA=t+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
BB —Z-NF -\ ZE—+tF CZT—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT T T T
Assets and Liabilities EERER
Total assets BEE 114,270 116,088 124,165 150,850 142,340
Total liabilities BEE (31,277) (11,675) (13,381) (12,262) (47,334)
Total equity BEReE 82,993 104,413 110,784 138,588 95,006
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